**CEDR Transnational Road Research Programme** 

Call 2012: Noise: Integrating strategic noise management into the operation and maintenance of national road networks



funded by Belgium/Flanders, Germany, Ireland, Norway, Sweden, United Kingdom

### DISTANCE

# State-of-the-art on secondary functions for pavements and noise screens

Deliverable 3.1, December 2014



**Developing Innovative Solutions for TrAffic Noise Distance** Control in Europe

Partners:



BRRC (Belgian Road Research Laboratory) [Belgium]



TRL (Transport Research Laboratory) [UK]



SINTEF [Norway]



ANAS S.p.A. [Italy]

This page is intentionally left blank



### CEDR Call2012: Noise: Integrating strategic noise management into the operation and maintenance of national road networks

### DISTANCE: Developing Innovative Solutions for TrAffic Noise Control in Europe

## State-of-the-art on secondary functions for noise barriers and road surfaces

Due date of deliverable: 31-12-2014 Actual submission date: 01-04-2015 Draft submission: 21-01-2015 Final submission: 01-04-2015

Start date of project: 01-09-2013

End date of project: 30-06-2015

### Author(s) this deliverable:

Johan Maeck (BRRC) Phil Morgan and Matthew Muirhead (TRL) Patrizia Bellucci and Raffaella Grecco (ANAS)

### **Quality Review:**

On behalf of the Lead Author's Institute								
Author:	Name	Johan Maeck	Signature	AF.				
Technical Reviewer:	Name	Luc Goubert	Signature					



This page is intentionally left blank



### Table of contents

Exe	ecutive su	Immary	iii				
1	Introduc	tion	1				
1	.1 Def	inition of 'secondary functions' for noise barriers and low-noise road surfaces	1				
1	.2 Ove	erview of considered secondary functions	3				
2	Noise ba	arriers with secondary functions	7				
2	2.1 Des	signed (demonstrated) secondary functions	7				
	2.1.1	Integrated noise and safety barriers	7				
	2.1.2	Photovoltaic noise barriers	10				
	2.1.3	Noise barriers with TiO <sub>2</sub> coating	12				
	2.1.4	Electrostatic fine dust collection	14				
2	2.2 Bor	nus (demonstrated) secondary functions	15				
	2.2.1	Green noise barriers	15				
	2.2.2	Transparent noise barriers	19				
	2.2.3	Use of recycled materials	21				
	2.2.4	Enhanced visual aesthetics	23				
	2.2.5	Added devices	27				
2	2.3 Des	signed (concept) secondary functions	28				
	2.3.1	Integrated lighting	28				
	2.3.2	Advertising displays	29				
	2.3.3	Informative displays	30				
	2.3.4	Rainwater harvesting	31				
3	Low-noi	se pavements with secondary functions	33				
3	3.1 Des	signed (demonstrated) secondary functions	33				
	3.1.1	Dynamic road markings	33				
	3.1.2	Inductive charging	35				
	3.1.3	Heat capture/storage	36				
	3.1.4	Modular pavements	40				
	3.1.5	Self-healing road surfaces	43				
	3.1.6	Air pollutant capture	43				
	3.1.7	Energy generation by vibrations	45				
3	3.2 Bor	nus (demonstrated) secondary functions	46				
	3.2.1	Use of recycled materials	46				
4	Summary, conclusions and recommendations 49						
Re	References						



This page is intentionally left blank



### **Executive summary**

The objective of the DISTANCE project is to provide NRAs with information and guidance on a wide range of topics to assist them in planning and implementing future noise mitigation measures on their road networks. In the current economic climate, budgetary restrictions mean that NRAs must strive to ensure that implemented measures are fit for purpose and durable whilst keeping costs as low as possible. Noise mitigation measures that provide additional benefits beyond simple noise reduction may therefore be an attractive proposition to NRAs if they can be achieved with relatively little additional expenditure or if whole life costs are favourable.

Work Package 3 of the DISTANCE project has sought to investigate how primary NRA assets such as road surfaces and noise barriers might be enhanced to provide additional benefits, referred to here as 'secondary functions'. Options have been identified and assessed in terms of their known or anticipated (whichever is applicable given the technical readiness of the option) advantages, disadvantages, and likely costs (relative to conventional measures); the level of technical readiness, i.e. how ready they are for commercial application, has also been identified.

From the different options reviewed the following are considered as being presently available and offering the most useful benefits to NRAs with respect to secondary functions:

For noise barriers with secondary functions:

- Noise barriers with photovoltaics
- Integrated noise and safety barriers
- Enhanced visual aesthetics (including the use of transparency)
- Green barriers

For road surfaces with secondary functions

• Use of recycled materials (recycled asphalts)



This page is intentionally left blank



### 1 Introduction

Traffic noise is a huge burden in Europe today, both in terms of human health and wellbeing as in term of economic damage. It is unlikely that the problem will disappear or even diminish by itself. On the contrary, traffic volumes continue to increase year by year: in the EU-27 freight traffic increased by on average 1,5 % per annum in the period 2000-2010 and passenger traffic by 1,4 % per annum in the period 1995-2009 (ERF, 2013). It is therefore increasingly important that noise mitigation measures selected and implemented by National Road Authorities (NRAs) are and remain for as long as possible fit for purpose.

The objective of the DISTANCE project is to provide NRAs with information and guidance on the state-of-the-art in practical noise mitigation measures, data requirements for future action noise mapping and action planning, future potential traffic scenarios and improving public perception, awareness and acceptance of noise mitigation. This additional knowledge will assist them in planning and implementing future noise mitigation measures on their road networks.

In the current economic climate, budgetary restrictions mean that NRAs must strive to ensure that implemented measures are fit for purpose and durable whilst keeping costs as low as possible. Noise mitigation measures that provide additional benefits beyond simple noise reduction may therefore be an attractive proposition to NRAs if they can be achieved with relatively little additional expenditure or if whole life costs are favourable. These benefits may be categorised as being physical, economic, environmental or social.

Physical benefits, e.g. solar power generation, may well have a greater positive influence on public acceptance in circumstances where the introduction of a mitigation measure might be perceived to have a negative impact on the local landscape/visual aesthetics of an area.

Work Package 3 of the DISTANCE project seeks to investigate how primary NRA assets such as road surfaces and noise barriers might be enhanced to provide additional benefits, referred to here as 'secondary functions'.

This report presents the findings from the Work Package, grouped by function and highlighting the related advantages and drawbacks. Where evidence of practical implementation has been identified, details are provided; where no evidence is available, the report outlines the concept only.

### 1.1 Definition of 'secondary functions' for noise barriers and lownoise road surfaces

Within this Work Package of the DISTANCE project, secondary functions for noise barriers and low-noise road surfaces are considered as functions or benefits provided by the noise mitigation option which are in addition to the primary noise mitigation function.

It is considered the secondary functions can be broadly categorised into two types:

• 'Designed' secondary functions: This is where the noise barrier or road surface is physically modified either by



- integrating additional elements within the structure of a conventional barrier or surface, or
- 'retrofitting'/mounting additional elements **onto** the structure of a conventional barrier/surface structure.

so that it provides a **physical (non-acoustic) function** that would not be provided by a conventional noise barrier or surface. This physical benefit is the primary reason for the modification of the barrier/surface and is embedded and/or integrated in it. However, additional non-acoustic benefits may potentially also be realised; these can be categorised as **social, environmental and economic functions**, examples of which are presented in the bullet point below.

*Physical functions/benefits* are considered as being those not normally associated with conventional noise barriers, such as energy generation, increased road user safety, reduced land uptake, etc. For example, a noise barrier fitted with photovoltaic cells will generate electricity as its secondary physical function. The photovoltaic cells might be directly integrated into the surface of the acoustic elements on the noise barrier or separately mounted onto the façade of the barrier in the form of solar panels.

• 'Bonus' secondary functions: These are additional non-acoustic benefits that are realised even where no physical modifications are made to the barrier or road surface. As above these can be categorised as social, environmental and economic functions, as follows.

<u>Social functions</u>: These are considered most likely to be benefits associated with public perception and associated subjective responses/viewpoints, and public interaction with the barrier. As such, they are most likely to be associated with the aesthetics of the barrier/road surface, obscuration of the local environment, etc. These may be associated with physical secondary benefits or may be independent as in the case of constructing noise barriers from different materials.

<u>Environmental functions</u>: These will be benefits associated with an improvement of the local environment in the vicinity of the road or noise barrier.

<u>Economic functions</u>: These are benefits which might result from changes to whole life costs or where additional monetary benefits might arise due to the need for a separate/previously unrelated solution being reduced or eliminated. For example, energy generation through the use of photovoltaic cells or panels might result in a reduction in energy produced from traditional sources such as power stations and reduced energy bills for residents connected to the photovoltaic system.

For example, a noise barrier constructed out of recycled materials can be considered to have 'bonus' secondary functions since the barrier that does not perform a secondary physical function but contributes towards a reduction in materials being sent to landfill.

Designed and bonus functions can each be broken down into two further sub-categories as follows:



- **'Demonstrated' secondary functions**: This is where documented evidence of the barrier/surface with the secondary function has been identified, for example, as part of research trials or prototype demonstrations or, in the case of more developed solutions, where the system is in routine use on public road networks.
- **Concept' secondary functions:** This is where no documented evidence has been identified. This means that the barrier/surface with that secondary function might be presently untried/untested or a completely new concept.

Figure 1.1 on the following page presents the relationship between these different functions and benefits in a schematic form.

### **1.2** Overview of considered secondary functions

The secondary functions for noise barriers and road surfaces considered within this report are summarised within Table 1.1 on page 5. These were identified based on a combination of the project team's expert knowledge in the field of noise mitigation and experience of plausible or demonstrated secondary functions, and an open discussion of ideas.

More detailed descriptions of these secondary functions are presented in Chapters 2 and 3; these descriptions also present the following information:

- The **potential benefits** offered by implementation of the measure in question.
- The **potential drawbacks** or disadvantages of the measure in question.
- A high-level indication of the **likely costs of implementation** of these measures, if such an indication can be supported. Due to a lack of information on the costs of noise barriers and road surfaces that can be routinely applied across all European Member States, all cost estimates have been made qualitatively.

For **noise barriers**, an average cost has been defined by the CEDR Project Group Road Noise (Milford et al, 2013) as  $\in$ 400 per square metre (derived from the average cost of  $\in$ 1,600 per linear metre for a 4 m high noise barrier; the same report records that the annual cost for noise barrier maintenance is  $\in$ 77 per linear metre). Using this as the benchmark, the following cost bands have then been defined within this Work Package:

- *Cost band '-'*: The noise barrier with the secondary function is expected to be less expensive than an average noise barrier.
- Cost band '=': The noise barrier with the secondary function is expected to be comparable in cost to an average noise barrier.
- Cost band '+': The noise barrier with the secondary function is expected to be more expensive than an average noise barrier.
- Cost band '++': The noise barrier with the secondary function is expected to be considerably more expensive than an average noise barrier.



### CEDR Call 2012: Noise



Figure 1.1: Definition of 'secondary functions within DISTANCE Work Package 3



Noise	barriers		Road surfaces			
Designed (Demonstrated)	Bonus (D	emonstrated)	Designed (Demonstrated)	Bonus (Demonstrated)		
Integrated noise/safety barriers	Green (vegetat	ive) barriers	Dynamic road markings	Jse of recycled materials		
Solar energy collection via PV cells	Transparent no	ise barriers	Inductive charging			
Air pollutant capture using TiO <sub>2</sub> coatings	Use of recycled materials for noise barrier elements		Heat generation/storage			
Fine dust capture using electrostatic concepts	Enhanced visual aesthetics		Modular pavements			
	Added devices to enhance acoustic performance		Self-healing road surfaces			
			Air pollutant capture using TiO <sub>2</sub> coatings			
			Energy generation via vibration			
Designed (Concept)	Bonus	(Concept)	Designed (Concept)	Bonus (Concept)		
Integrated lighting						
Advertising displays						
Information displays						
Rainwater harvesting						

### Table 1.1: Summary of secondary functions considered in the report



For **road surfaces**, the CEDR report considers a reference pavement as an 11 mm Dense Asphalt Concrete (DAC11), but does not state average costs for surfacing and maintenance; instead it presents the costs for other surfaces in terms of the increase or decrease in cost relative to DAC11 for those activities.

Defining average costs for installation and maintenance of surfaces is very difficult since they will vary depending on the type of surface, traffic loads, climate, bearing capacity etc. Within the OPTHINAL project (Kragh et al, 2011), as part of a life-cycle cost analysis, an attempt was made to present the average cost for a conventional asphalt surface, which was reported as being €9.7 per square metre. Using this as figure as a benchmark, the following cost bands have then been defined within this Work Package:

- *Cost band '-'*: The road surface with the secondary function is expected to be less expensive than a conventional surface
- *Cost band '='*: The road surface with the secondary function is expected to be comparable in cost to a conventional surface.
- Cost band '+': The road surface with the secondary function is expected to be more expensive than a conventional surface.
- The state of technology readiness of the measure in question: This provides an indication to whether the measure is already available on the market or, if not, the maturity level of the measure in terms of its development/research status.

A number of existing different scales were investigated for defining the technology readiness, such as the Technology Readiness Levels (TRL) implemented by NASA (NASA 2014) and within HORIZON 2020 (the EU Research and Innovation programme, which runs from 2014-2020; European Commission, 2014). However, with 9 levels on these scales, they were considered overly complex for the current study. The project team therefore devised a simpler 4-point feasibility scale, as follows:

Technical feasibility	Description
1	Initial identification of new concept knowledge and/or technology
2	Demonstration of prototype measure in the laboratory/trial conditions
3	Initial demonstration of measure on public roads
4	Concept routinely available on the commercial market

 The overall expert appreciation towards potential for use by NRA, based on the assessment from all previous criteria, ranging from readily implemented and suitable for widespread use on an NRA road network, over means readily implemented and suitable for restricted use on an NRA road network, to 'not ready for implementation' or 'suitable for very restricted use on an NRA road network'



### **2** Noise barriers with secondary functions

Noise barriers with secondary functions are more widely used than road surfaces with secondary functions (see Chapter 3). Several types are already in routine use across European road networks and the benefits are widely recognised. Examples of such measures include photovoltaic noise barriers, noise barriers using vegetation in their construction (green barriers), noise screens integrating safety elements with acoustic panels and noise barriers with TiO<sub>2</sub> coating to neutralise NO<sub>x</sub> molecules.

In the remainder of this chapter, the most interesting examples of multifunctional noise barriers are described and analysed in terms of their benefits, potential; disadvantages, state of technology readiness and, where possible, indicative top-level costs. The main features of the most promising solutions are finally summarised to highlight and promote their potential use around Europe.

### 2.1 Designed (demonstrated) secondary functions

### 2.1.1 Integrated noise and safety barriers

For the protection of road users, vehicle restraint systems (safety barriers) are generally installed in front of noise barriers to prevent vehicles crashing into them and debris breaking away from the barrier, causing risks to road users and/or residents. Safety barriers are usually mounted at a distance sufficiently far from the noise barrier so as to allow them to deform in case of impact without affecting the noise barrier. This approach requires space between the barrier and the edge of the carriageway which may not always be available, so for new road schemes or road improvements the situation can be addressed through the use of systems where the noise barrier and safety barrier are integrated into a single structure.

Integrated noise and safety barriers are noise barriers equipped with safety components, i.e. metal guard rails and/or concrete safety barriers (e.g. new jersey type or F-shape); in some cases, the systems are freestanding so that no foundations are necessary for their installation. Examples of this type of integrated barrier are shown in Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2.

**Potential Advantages:** Integrated noise and safety barriers offer a number of strongly innovative features: first of all, the installation of a single integrated noise and safety barrier moves beyond the usual dual installation of safety barrier and conventional noise barrier by enabling installation of the noise barrier directly at the edge of the pavement.

This characteristic makes the integrated noise-safety barrier more effective compared to a standard noise barrier of the same height since the position of the leading diffracting edge is moved closer to the road. In other words, integrated barriers with a lower overall height can be used to reduce noise to the same extent, thus providing some material saving. Furthermore, a lower operating width is needed for their installation, thus resulting in land and money saving. For instance, a 4m high noise barrier at 3 m from the source to secure the working space of a safety barrier in case of impact, can be lowered by about 0,5 m if positioned on the edge of the road.





Figure 2.1: Integrated noise and safety barrier with metal guardrail (minimal depth 125cm to 165cm, height 2m to 5m)



(Images reproduced with permission of Paver S.p.A.)



- Minimised depth from 105 cm to 125 cm
- Different final heights (from 300 cm up to 450 cm)

Figure 2.2: Integrated noise and safety barrier with new jersey elements(Images reproduced with permission of CIR S.p.A.)



### CEDR Call 2012: Noise

Thanks to the rapid assembly of free-standing noise-safety integrated barriers (no foundations or anchor to the soil are required), the time required for their installation is also reduced, making this application cost-effective.

This type of system also offers the potential for more easily introducing noise barriers into the central reservation.

Integrated noise and safety barriers, using both concrete and steel guard rails as the vehicle restraint component, have also shown positive response on safety issues by passing crash tests for safety barriers carried out according to EN 1317-1 (CEN, 2010a) and EN 1317-2 (CEN, 2010b), even though the separation of the noise barrier and the vehicle restraint is limited; this means that the barriers would comply with the safety in collision requirements within EN 1794-1 (CEN, 2011a).





Figure 2.3: Integrated noise and safety barrier with metal guardrail crash tests (Images reproduced with permission of Paver S.p.A.)

**Potential Disadvantages:** The maximum tested noise-safety barrier height is 5.00 m with metal guardrail and 4 m with concrete safety barriers. This solution is not applicable when the height needed is more than 5 m or 4 m respectively.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 4. The concept has been proven in real-world applications and products are already commercially available.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '+' (more expensive than an average noise barrier). When total cost of safety and noise barriers are considered, combining both might be more economical than separate safety barriers and NB.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept is proven and is therefore one that could be readily implemented by road administrations on their networks, especially since combined barrier heights of 4.0-5.0 m are, depending upon the precise design, feasible. It will not be suited to all situations where noise barriers are/can be used since noise barriers are not always located at the edge of the carriageway. It is considered that the concept could be applied for both new road schemes and barrier replacement schemes since in the latter case, it would not require the introduction of replacement foundations closer to the carriageway.



### 2.1.2 Photovoltaic noise barriers

Photovoltaic noise barriers (PVNB) allow the simultaneous abatement of noise and the production of renewable energy, by converting solar energy into electricity, thus limiting the production of greenhouse gas emissions into the atmosphere; Figure 2.3 - Figure 2.4 show examples of such barriers. Photovoltaic modules can be directly integrated within the surface of the barrier or 'retrofitted'/mounted onto the barrier in the form of solar panels.



Figure 2.3: A photovoltaic noise barrier installed in Vallese di Oppeano (Italy) - first stretch.



### Figure 2.4: Photovoltaic noise barrier installed alongside the motorway A22 Brennero (Italy).

The position of the photovoltaic modules inside/on the barriers depends on the orientation and geometry of the barrier surfaces, which are defined by the sound abatement specifications: vertical barriers are most commonly used, coupled with an additional tilted surface on the top of the barrier or with other anti-diffraction elements; sometimes, in order to reach the requirements specified by the design, the road is partially or totally enclosed using a tunnel configuration.

PVNB have been trialled since 1989 (first installation along the A13 motorway in Switzerland) in a range of countries across Europe (pvresources.com, 2013) including Switzerland, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands (van der Borg and Jansen, 2001) and the UK (Carder and



Barker, 2006) with Germany and, to a lesser extent, Italy having installed the greatest quantity. Installation costs for large PV systems vary between  $\leq$ 1,500 to  $\leq$ 2,500 per kW. (Corfield, 2012) currently most likely lower as prices have dropped dramatically last years. A number of commercially produced systems are currently available. Several positive effects can be ascribed to PVNB application from the economic, environmental and social perspective.

Several test sections and studies give variations in life-cycle costs for PVNB. (e.g. Bellucci and La Monica, 2012) and state that PVNB can reduce the life cycle cost of noise reducing devices by up to 30%, based on current case histories, by selling the generated electricity. However this figure depends upon the price, level of public funding for renewable energies, the amount of mounted PV cells and on the PVNB being installed in appropriate climate conditions such as those in Southern Europe,

In contrast, results from a pilot project in the UK on the M27 in 2004, resulted in a far less positive message (Carder and Barker, 2006; Carder et al 2007).

No proof has been found that driver safety is affected by the presence of the PV cells, or that acoustic nuisance caused by sound reflection on installed PV cells is increased significantly.

A feasibility study on PVNB in Belgium (De Schepper et al, 2012) monetized not only economical (so also including the subsidies for green energy) but also ecological benefits, as taking the latter into account is important to have a positive cost-benefit assessment. It stated that in the case of a decision for a noise barrier, PVNB could form an alternative to promote public-private partnership where government, private investors and residents could all benefit.

**Potential Advantages:** Generally, the literature states that the overall gain of generating energy by PV cells mounted on noise barriers is limited with respect to the investment and maintenance cost. However subsidies could make PVNB worthwhile in some conditions although the latter only means a cost reallocation.

The remunerative nature of PVNB could result in a drain on private and public financial resources. Therefore, the costs of PVNB could potentially be shared funding the PV solution/part of the PVNB from the private sector and the basic noise barrier from public expenditure. The possibility of earning money from the production of renewable energy, makes it particularly interesting for the private sector. This is the case, for example, with PV noise barriers built in Italy, which have been constructed with the financial support of private investors.

Another advantage of using PV cells mounted on noise barriers is that no supplementary land consumption is needed. Integrating this secondary function with noise barriers could also speed up the decision process for the provision of noise abatement measures, and so have a direct social benefit.

The use of PVNB also increases awareness of renewable energy sources for all stakeholders.

Last, but not least, the production of renewable energy reduces the amount of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere.

**Potential Disadvantages:** Maintenance needs and maintenance costs are an important drawback to the use of PVNB. Modules, inverter and other components should be



maintained, repaired or replaced, as far as is practicable and depending upon the design, without destroying/removing the noise barrier and with minimum traffic disruption. Cleaning of PV surfaces is a costly operation and as such, not often carried out

Theft and vandalism could be also a problem; the high price of modules makes PV components appealing for thieves, while their large and visible surfaces could be an easy target for vandalism or graffiti. Nevertheless, these problems can be solved with appropriate design strategies (e.g. ensuring robustness, the use of anti-theft bolts, the use of materials which are easily cleaned, etc.) and protecting the barrier location through installation of security fences, cameras, etc. (although any requirement for such security measures may count against the use of PNVB barriers in the design/selection phase).

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 4. The concept has been proven in real-world applications and products are already commercially available

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' to Band '-' (comparable to or less expensive than an average noise barrier) when considered in terms of whole-life costs. Initial investment costs are high, but the sale of energy produced can drastically reduce the costs of the barrier, although this is likely to depend on the barriers being installed in locations where energy production is favourable. Experiences have demonstrated that in favourable conditions then without incentives the cost of the photovoltaic modules is recouped within the service life of the modules whilst with incentives the costs can be recouped in 15 years.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept is proven and one that could therefore be readily implemented by road administrations. However, it will not be suited to all situations where noise barriers are/can be used since the efficiency and scale of energy generated by the PV cells will be dependent upon the orientation of the barrier, number of PV cells and the climate (amount of sunshine) and the potential use for the energy. If the barrier is low in height, the investment and benefits may be insufficient. The financial benefits of the generated energy must be carefully weighed up against the cost of energy storage/transfer infrastructure.

### 2.1.3 Noise barriers with TiO<sub>2</sub> coating

Vehicle emissions are one of the greatest sources of air pollution and, under certain conditions, contribute to smog formation. Smog has a detrimental effect on the environment and on human health. Whilst treating the problem at source (i.e. directly on the vehicles) is clearly the most preferable, this is not an option available to National Road Administrations, so measures which could assist in controlling the dispersal of emissions away from the roadside are likely to be considered positively if they can be proven to be effective.

Various studies have looked at the impact of noise barriers on the dilution and dispersion of air pollution. For example, Brechler and Fuka (2014) reported that noise barriers reduce concentrations of nitrogen oxides ( $NO_x$ ) and airborne particulates along motorways. Also research into the performance of using photocatalytic coatings on noise barriers to reduce  $NO_x$  is ongoing.

Photocatalytic pollution abatement has been a subject of interest for some time, as it is an easily adaptable option for a variety of applications on existing infrastructure, such as roadways, tunnels, the surfaces of parking lots and also for noise barriers. The mechanism



relies on a photocatalytic coating, made of titanium dioxide  $(TiO_2)$ , which breaks down pollutants such as nitrogen oxides  $(NO_x)$  in the presence of UV light (e.g. from sunlight) into non-harmful compounds that can then be easily washed away with rain.

 $TiO_2$ , is commonly used as a white pigment, photocatalytic coating. Figure 2.5 presents a an overview of the overall photocatalytic process



### Figure 2.5: Overview of the photocatalytic process, adapted from figure by Ontario Ministry of Transportation (2011)

Recent studies (Blaschke, 2011; Chusid, 2010; Churchill and Panesar, 2013) have shown that there are several factors affecting the rate of  $NO_x$  removal, including porosity, particle size, irradiation time, atmospheric exposure and pollutant concentration.

Examples of practical trials on noise barriers incorporating  $TiO_2$  coatings, e.g. the Dutch Air Quality Innovation Programme (Hooghwerff et al, 2009), UK trials on the M60 motorway and field trials in Wuppertal, Germany (Ifang, 2012) have met with limited success. Other studies have also been undertaken in Germany (for example, on the A1 near Osnabruck-North and on Krohnstieg in Hamburg; BAST, 2014) although no results from these studies have been identified. A new study in the UK is shortly to commence which will further investigate the issue using barriers installed specifically for air quality purposes (Highways Magazine, 2014). From a cost- benefit viewpoint, a high  $NO_x$  degradation rate is imperative (Cameron and Panesar, 2013). Trials in the Netherlands (Voogt, 2013) have demonstrated that proving that an air cleaning barrier works is very hard in real life circumstances.

**Potential Advantages:** On a sunny day, ideally 75% of the pollutant gases that come into contact with the  $TiO_2$  coating can be eliminated (Eurovia Vinci, 2013). On a cloudy day, there is enough light to maintain the product's effectiveness. Furthermore, an overall pollution reduction by 15% to 25% is estimated. On the other hand, many references mention the reduced effectiveness in less ideal conditions. The degradation rate can decrease significantly in real life circumstances such as high humidity, a lack of UV light, dust deposition, etc.



**Potential Disadvantages:** The manufacturing process of  $TiO_2$  coating requires chemical procedures that generate pollutants that contribute to global warming and smog formation. Consequently, the expected benefits from the  $TiO_2$  coating could not outweigh the environmental burdens incurred through the manufacturing process.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 3. The concept has been demonstrated in a large number of trials on public roads, but has yet to reach a stage where it is ready for wider implementation.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++' (considerably more expensive than an average noise barrier).

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it would be ready for use as a recognised air pollution mitigation measure by road administrations. Based on the variation of reported effectiveness during trials, it is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use; however, public perception of such a measure may be favourable even if the effects are limited, since the road administration would be perceived as taking action to improve air quality.

### 2.1.4 Electrostatic fine dust collection

Whilst the noise barrier concepts discussed in the previous section addressed vehicle emissions such as  $NO_x$ , other concepts have been identified that address the capture of larger particle sizes, i.e. dust particles. In this instance, the innovative principle is to remove fine dust particles out of the air around roads by making use of the electrostatic concept. Such a system is based upon the use of electrically charged wires which are mounted onto the surface of a wall/barrier. The electric field charges particles suspended in the air. These charged particles can then be caught by another set of electrically grounded metal screens.

Following a successful preliminary small scale test in which the concentration of dust particles was reduced by nearly 50%, the electrostatic concept has been applied in a trial project (de Neef, 2014) in the Netherlands in the 1.1km long, highway tunnel 'Thomassentunnel'. In this trial, the number of days where the 24h-limit concentration for dust particles was exceeded decreased by 1 to 2 per year. However, it is clear that a lot of improvements and optimisations are needed for the system to be feasible for use beyond trial projects.

In 2012 the same principle was successfully applied to noise walls in trials in the Netherlands, besides tests of other techniques to capture fine dust such as the use of filter cloths and lava stones. The trial showed that for a 4m high screen, reductions in fine dust concentrations of up to 32%, could be achieved, with an average net- effect on a yearly basis of 5%.(van Ratingen, 2012; van't Selfde and Zoeter, 2012). Again additional research and development is needed for the systems to be feasible beyond trial projects.

**Potential Advantages:** The concept has shown already from trial sections to have potential to reduce fine dust particles concentration.



**Potential Disadvantages:** More knowledge is needed on the inducement of the electrostatic field, the change of the state of charge of the particles, the transport of the loaded particles from the air to the screen, the influence of climatic conditions, etc.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 2. Although the concepts have shown potential, they are not yet ready for full trials without further development.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++'. It is expected that these barriers, if they were to pass beyond prototype stage would be considerably more expensive than an average noise barrier, however this is based on the judgement of the authors of this report in the absence of evidence.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it will be ready for use routine by road administrations. It is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use.

### 2.2 Bonus (demonstrated) secondary functions

### 2.2.1 Green noise barriers

Traditional solutions to abate traffic noise make use of concrete and steel barriers. These barriers are obtrusive and often cause complaints about their appearance. While society desires more peaceful surroundings, they also desire an aesthetically pleasing environment. This desire has led to the development of green noise barriers.

A green noise barrier is an engineered structure that uses soil and vegetation to mitigate noise. Green noise barriers, such as earth berms and vegetative screens, are advantageous with respect to traditional concrete barriers in their ability to blend in with the natural environment. Through this bonus secondary function of improving the aesthetics of the barrier, these barriers improve the public perception of noise mitigation. Green noise barriers also provide equal or better noise reduction when compared to traditional noise barriers due to their ability to absorb noise especially at high frequencies and deflect sound rays in different directions. Green barriers are available in a variety of designs, depending on the type of vegetation used.



Figure 2.6: Vegetative barrier http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/43000/43000/43080/134556\_FR.pdf

As a further bonus second function, green barriers can provide  $CO_2$  absorption, although this is likely to be rather limited. A square meter of vegetated surface can absorb 44 µg/s on average (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). The amount of  $CO_2$  absorption depends on the average annual solar exposure and on vegetation type. For example, in Italy the average annual solar exposure is 2.000 hours, corresponding to an annual absorption of 316 gr/m<sup>2</sup>. Considering



that a light vehicle emits 126 gr/km of  $CO_2$ , a 4 m high and 1 km long green barrier can absorb on average the equivalent  $CO_2$  amount of 10.000 vehicles/year.

The following are examples of different types of green barrier that have been identified from the literature.

- Living willow walls. These designs are where the barrier is effectively a small footprint earth bund, planted with willow. The example shown in the pictures uses two wooden frames placed several feet apart to retain and support the willow trees and a soil core. The soil core provides noise reduction and moisture retention for the willow trees while the geotextile retains the soil and prevents erosion. The willow trees act as a façade to increase the aesthetics of the barrier. A drip irrigation system is installed during construction to provide moisture to the willow trees.
- Willow panels. These designs offer two types of green noise barrier and have a footprint comparable to a conventional panel-construction noise barrier; they are generally panel type systems installed between steel posts. The first type uses dry woven willow rods to create the façade of the noise barrier; similar systems have been identified which use bamboo or coconut fibres in place of the willow rods.







(a) living willow barrier Photo reproduced with permission of Cheviot Trees Ltd

(b) living & woven willow barrier Photo reproduced with permission of Cheviot Trees Ltd

(c) Coco-fibre barrier Photo reproduced with permission of Kokosystems BV

### Figure 2.7: Examples of living wall type barriers

The second type uses a combination of woven willow rods and live willow trees (the latter normally installed in the form of living willow rods planted into the ground; as such, the aesthetics of the barrier change as the planted willow becomes more established. The living willow also provides season-dependent aesthetics and helps the barrier blend in with the natural environment.



1

1

Barriers incorporating plants within the acoustic elements: This type of barrier is constructed from panels or elements which have hollow sections which can be filled with earth/gravel or planted so as to allow vegetation to establish itself on the barrier facade.

A number of different designs of barrier of this type have been identified. The barrier shown in the photograph on the right uses concrete elements that are stacked in an interlocking grid. This structure provides for an empty space in the centre of each element of the grid that can be backfilled with soil to plant vegetation.



Figure 2.8: Barrier with plants http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/43000/43000/43080/134556\_FR.pdf



Figure 2.9: Barrier with plants http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/43000/43000/43080/134556\_FR.pdf

integrate in the environment.

The design shown in the photograph on the right uses precast concrete trays that are stacked on top of each other. These concrete trays have a flower box design that allows soil to be retained within the barrier. Additionally, the trays can be stacked to meet the required height to provide the desired noise reduction. These barriers provide good noise reduction, which can be attributed to the size of the barrier and the thickness of the concrete and soil.

The system offers excellent noise reduction features due to the property of concrete to reflect sound waves and the absorbing characteristics of soil.

The barrier shown in the photograph on the left uses a series of wooden panels that are stacked in an interlocking structure. This structure creates empty cells that can be backfilled with course aggregate. These cells can be used to host soil and plant vegetation. The course aggregate creates empty spaces that trap noise while the wooden elements absorb noise. Furthermore, the wooden elements provide increased aesthetics and the addition of vegetation can help these barriers to



Figure 2.10: Barrier with plants http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/43000/43000/43080/134556\_FR.pdf



The barrier shown on the right combines vertical supports and horizontal elements to retain the soil. These supports and elements are made of lightweight recycled plastic. The elements create a soil core that allows vegetation to grow on the face of the barrier. combination of plastic and The soil contributes to reflect and absorb the sound waves providing a better noise reduction with respect to traditional concrete noise barriers. Furthermore, the vegetated surface concurs to increase the aesthetics.



Figure 2.11: Barrier with plants http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/43000/43000/43080/134556\_FR.pdf

Potential Advantages: The main advantage relies in their environmental sustainability and their ability to blend in with the landscape, thus improving the public perception of noise mitigation, and depending upon whether the vegetation is included on the receiver side of the barrier as well as the source side, potentially improving the aesthetics of the barrier for residents living behind it.

Another advantage shown by some types of green barriers is that no foundation is needed.

Depending on the vegetation used, green barriers can offer a service life of up to 60 years. In addition, the combination of soil and vegetation can sometimes increase noise reduction when compared to traditional noise barriers due to their ability to absorb noise especially at high frequencies and deflect sound rays in different directions. Diffraction on the canopy of trees does not result in an increased total A-weighted sound pressure level due to the typical low-frequency spectrum of traffic noise (Van Renterghem, 2002).

More generally, the interaction between sound waves and vegetation, and design rules for vegetation and tree belts are studied in Chapter 4 (Acoustical characteristics of trees, shrubs, and hedges) and 5 (Designing vegetation and tree belts along roads) from the outcome handbook from European project HOSANNA (HOlistic and Sustainable Abatement of Noise by optimized combinations of Natural and Artificial means) (Nilsson, 2014).

Potential Disadvantages: The main disadvantage relies on the need for frequent maintenance operations and the availability of irrigation systems to guarantee sufficient amounts of moisture for vegetation. This leads to increased maintenance and labour costs. The construction of green noise barriers are also labour intensive and require special skills, making these systems less interesting and cost-effective. Furthermore, green noise barriers that use a concrete structure skeleton may be susceptible to erosion from wind and rain, while those using plastic elements are subject to deformation under high and low temperatures and may deteriorate when exposed to direct sunlight.

In addition, more space is required by green noise barriers for their installation.

Technical Feasibility: Level 4. The concepts, particularly willow wall barriers, have been well demonstrated and products of this type are available on the market.



**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' to band '+' (comparable to or more expensive than an average noise barrier; the cost is likely to vary considerably depending upon the design that is installed).

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept is proven and one that could therefore be readily implemented by road administrations. However, it will not be suited to all situations where noise barriers are/can be used due to maintenance requirements and irrigation and spatial availability will affect the types of design available. If the objective is to enhance/disguise the appearance of the noise barrier for residents screened by the barrier, a more effective and manageable approach may be to use a conventional noise barrier and plant vegetation behind it.

### 2.2.2 Transparent noise barriers

Transparent acoustic elements are used to either provide a fully transparent barrier or are incorporated as components within an opaque barrier constructed from other materials. As such, their bonus secondary function is to reduce the visual impact that would result from the use of a conventional opaque barrier; they may allow drivers to view the surroundings beyond the road environment, allow residents a view across the road; and reduce unwanted shading on the receiver side. Where they are used as the upper acoustic elements on an opaque barrier, they reduce the perception of being 'enclosed'. The elements may be constructed from glass, acrylics, (coated) polycarbonate, polymethyl methacrylate, etc. Examples of this type of barrier are shown in Figure 2.12.

It has been found that human sensitivity to noise appears to be greater when the source of the noise cannot be seen (see, for example, Watts et al, 1999) meaning that the *perceived* noise level at the receiver is lower behind a transparent screen than behind an opaque screen with the same *actual* noise level behind the barrier; this has been further validated in other studies, e.g. Maffei et al (2013). This therefore suggests that opaque barriers may not provide the optimum protection for noise sensitive receivers. However, it is noted that research by Joynt and Kang (2010) looking at the perception of noise reduction for different noise barrier types based on preconceptions of the performance of different material contradicted this rationale.



Reproduced with permission of Forster Metallbau GmbH



Reproduced with permission of Forster Metallbau GmbH





Transparent barriers are already used in many countries across Europe and many products are commercially available.

**Potential Advantages:** These barriers allow for the mitigation of noise to a similar extent as reflective opaque screens but with reduced/little obscuration of the local environment for both road users and residents behind the noise barrier. They can significantly change the aesthetics of the barrier.

Such barriers may be particularly beneficial where noise mitigation is required on bridges, flyovers, etc., as their use will not adversely affect the visual impact of the structure when viewed from ground level. However, consideration must be given as to how the barriers would behave if they were subject to vehicular impact, e.g. the safety risk posed by falling debris/acoustic elements from the barrier to road users/pedestrians beneath the bridge/flyover.

**Potential Disadvantages:** Depending upon the inclination of the barrier angle and the materials used, the barriers may require regular cleaning. Depending upon the materials used, there may be a tendency for the transparent components to become more opaque over time, although material developments make this less likely than when this type of barrier was first introduced. The barriers are more expensive than conventional opaque noise barriers and costs will vary depending on the type of transparent material.

There may be the possibility for light reflections from the transparent surfaces, either from reflections of the sun or headlights at night, which could cause issues for residents and/or road users and thereby affect safety. The barriers should be tested for light reflection in accordance with EN 1794-2 (CEN, 2011).

If transparent modules are incorporated within sound absorptive barriers (either as the upper most acoustic elements or as 'windows' in the barrier) this will reduce the sound absorption capabilities of the overall barrier. Therefore, in cases where there is either a barrier installed on the opposite side of the road or where there are large sound reflective structures (buildings) in close proximity on the other side of the road, the height of the barrier(s) might need to be increased to mitigate any increase in reflected sound due to the reduction in sound absorption. Alternatively, the problem can potentially be addressed by inclining the barriers away from the by a small angle, e.g. 10°, although this approach can be problematic for any high rise buildings located opposite the barriers.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 4. The concept has been proven and there are a wide range of products commercially available.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '+' (more expensive than an average noise barrier; the cost will vary depending upon the material used and the percentage of the barrier installation that is transparent.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept is proven and one that could therefore be readily implemented by road administrations. However, it will not be necessary in all situations where noise barriers are/can be. It is most likely to be used whether there is a need to reduce a perceived canyon effect (for drivers) when there are barriers on both sides of the road, or to reduce the perceived height/visual intrusion of the barrier (for residents) when barrier/residence separations are small.



### 2.2.3 Use of recycled materials

Noise barriers are just one area where end users are becoming more conscious of issues regarding sustainability of materials, carbon footprint, disposal and recycling at the end of the product life and consideration of whole life costs rather than simply the cost of the initial installation. The use of recycled materials for the construction of noise barrier acoustic elements is therefore a growing industry.

The bonus secondary function provided by these barriers is therefore primarily environmental, in that it reduces the amounts of material going into landfill and reduces the need for the extraction of 'fresh' materials such as timber, stone for aggregate, etc.

The most common use of recycled materials in noise barriers is through the use of recycled plastics. There are a number of commercially available products based on noise barrier acoustic elements of this type.

Other examples of barriers constructed wholly from recycled materials or which use recycled materials as a constituent material within their construction have also been identified within the literature. Whilst most of these are still prototype systems or undergoing on-road trials, some are already commercially available.

One area where there is an increasing interest is the use of tyre derived rubber materials (TDRM) from scrap/recycled tyres to create noise barriers with sound absorptive properties. Tischmak and Marcato (2011) reported investigations into a range of barriers constructed from TDRM. Barrier using these materials in some form, have also been demonstrated in a number of recent research projects and, in some cases have even reached the point of commercial application. Examples are as follows:

TDRM as a substitute for aggregate in concrete barriers. This concept has been successfully demonstrated by Armtec (undated) and in projects such as RUCONBAR (<u>www.ruconbar,com</u>), a Croatian project which has developed a barrier where only the front façade of the barrier is sound absorptive, i.e. it is comprised of two layers – a back layer of conventional reinforced concrete and a front, absorbing layer of concrete mixed with TDRM (Lakušić et al, 2011; RUCONBAR, 2014). As of May 2014, construction commenced of a RUCONBAR barrier on a public road near Krk in Croatia.



(a) RUCONBAR noise barrier panels
Photo reproduced with permission from Prof. Stjepan Lakusic, Coordinator of EU project RUCONBAR University of Zagreb Faculty of Civil Engineering Zagreb, Croatia



(b) Whisper Wall barrier system (from http://files.armtec.com/Downloads/Categories/Noise-Control/Whisper\_Wall/Whisper\_Wall\_Brochure.pdf)

Figure 2.13: Examples of concrete noise barriers incorporating TDRM



Other examples where TDRM have been used in this form include the EKOPAN project (<u>www.ekopan.eu</u>).

- **TDRM** as a replacement for conventional absorbers in modular systems, Barriers of this type have been demonstrated by Carsonite (2010).
- **TDRM as a cladding material on other types of barrier**. Barriers of this type have been demonstrated by Štuliková and Šnajdr (2014); in this instance the TDRM was used to provide sound absorptive cladding on the front of a stone gabion noise barrier.
- Barriers constructed solely from TDRM. Barriers of this type, e.g. the Soniwall system produced by Sound Protection Solutions (2013; see photograph on right), can use very large quantities of TDRM in their manufacture, considerably greater than the amounts used as an aggregate substitute in concrete barriers. However, the weight of the acoustic elements is significantly greater than that of conventional barriers and may be a prohibitive factor.



Figure 2.14: Soniwall noise barrier system (from http://soundprotectionsolutions.com/ourproducts/acoustic-protection-system/usage/)

Other examples of where recycled materials have been included within acoustic elements for noise barriers include concrete waste, as reported by Krezel and McManus (2010); the barriers used in these trials were manufactured from recycled concrete (RC) aggregate and industrial by-products such as fly ash and reclaimed water and both sound reflective and sound absorptive designs have been investigated.

**Potential Advantages:** The use of recycled materials can reduce the amount of material such as plastics and tyres being sent to landfill. Depending upon the type of material used, they can introduce acoustic absorption properties to a noise barrier.

**Potential Disadvantages:** Depending upon the materials used, there may be considerable processing required to produce the forms suitable for inclusion as a constituent material within the acoustic elements of noise barriers, as is the case of TDRM, where the most common applications require waste tyres to be converted to tyre granulate (particles of rubber whose maximum dimension is between 1 mm and 10 mm).

Materials might not be as locally available for barrier manufacturers as conventional materials, meaning materials might have to be transported from further afield; this might increase the costs of the end products and affect the manufacturer's carbon footprint.

Depending upon how the materials are used within the manufacturing of acoustic elements and the quantities used, the end products may be heavier than conventional acoustic elements.



Specifiers/procurers must be aware of any adverse effects that the use of any recycled materials might have on the environment through the release of toxic constituents. All materials used and any physical/chemical conditions that might result in adverse environmental impacts should be declared in accordance with EN 1794-2 (CEN, 2011b). Increased fire risks might also be posed by the use of some recycled materials, including smoke hazards and toxic fumes; barriers should have been tested in accordance with the brushfire test in EN 1794-2 (it is noted that a new standard is in development (prEN 1793-4; CEN, 2014) which includes both that test and, for more stringent requirements, further tests for reaction to fire.

**Technical feasibility:** Level 2-4. Whilst some concepts have only reached demonstration stages within individual research projects, some types of noise barrier acoustic element incorporating recycled materials are already commercially available.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' to Band '+'. Where recycled materials are used as substitutes for other materials in the construction of acoustic elements, it is considered that the costs may be or are comparable to those elements constructed without the recycled materials. The use of recycled materials might increase the costs of the products.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: Depending upon the materials used, the concept ranges from under development to proven and is not necessarily one that could therefore be readily implemented by road administrations. The use of such materials will depend upon the design requirements of the barrier and may not be a characteristic or requirement that is directly specified by a road authority during the procurement process

### 2.2.4 Enhanced visual aesthetics

The level of consideration of the aesthetics of environmental noise barriers and how they sit within the visual character and architecture of their location varies. Since functionality is the primary concern and since they are most commonly installed using standard, off-the-shelf components, the same designs of barrier, with little visual appeal, can be seen installed in many locations.

However, sometimes it is preferable to make a feature of or a strong visual statement with the noise barrier or to disguise its presence/purpose. This may be to match the character of the area being protected or to improve public perception/acceptance of the measure which, whilst improving acoustic quality, might otherwise be seen as a blight on the local landscape. In such cases, this can be achieved through careful consideration and design of the appearance of the noise barrier and the materials/colour palette used.

The improvement in aesthetics is therefore defined as being the bonus secondary feature, albeit that to describe it as such might be perceived as tenuous.

There are many different ways in which making a strong visual statement with the barrier can be achieved, as shown in the examples in Figure 2.15. This is more the responsibility of the designers and architects taking care of the non-acoustic design aspects of the noise barrier and the overall aesthetics of the road scheme, although it will still be necessary to ensure that the noise barrier is of the appropriate type, i.e. sound reflective or sound absorptive, and



that its height and position are adequate to provide the expected levels of acoustic screening at noise sensitive receivers behind the barrier. As such, the approach does not necessarily involve the use of additional, specialist materials and can include the following:

• Changing the colour of the noise barrier or the design of the façade, e.g. through the use of digital printing on metal cartridge panels, or through casting patterns on the façade. Clearly the ability to achieve this will be dependent upon the types of materials used for the construction of the acoustic elements.

An example of such an approach being applied in combination with public/resident participation is the 'barcode' noise barrier installed on the A40 at Bochum Wattenscheid in Germany (shown in Figure 2.15(a)). The final colour scheme was the result of a public competition in which over 1200 participants submitted design proposals. (Barcode A40, 2009).

Other examples of barriers with distinct visual aesthetics are shown in images (b), (c), (d) and (g) of Figure 2.15

- Changing the profile of the noise barrier in either the vertical and/or horizontal plane. This might involve changing the profile of the top edge so that it is not horizontal, changing the vertical profile of the barrier so that it is no longer flat. An example of such a barrier is the concept to be used on the Waterview Connection project in New Zealand (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz/projects/waterviewconnection/overview.html</u>) shown in Figure 2.15(g).
- Using different combinations of materials within the same structure, e.g. concrete and transparent elements. An example of such a barrier is shown in Figure 2.15(e).
- Adding additional elements of design features to make the barrier look less like a barrier and more like a different structure. One such example, installed at Margarentengütel in Vienna Austria, is shown in Figure 2.15(f) where a high transparent noise barrier has been installed directly connected to the high sided buildings at either end of the barrier.
- The use of vegetation in the barrier design (see also Section 2.2.1 of this report).



### CEDR Call 2012: Noise



(a) BARCODE Noise Barrier, A40, Germany (from www.planung-a40-b1.de/Sechsstreifiger-Ausbau-Bochum.208.0.html



(b) Peninsula Link, Australia (from http://ausplastics.com.au/)



(c) Reproduced with permission of Urban Fencing Ltd



(d) SILENCE noise barrier (from www.pircher.eu/en/barriere-antirumore)



(e)Combination barrier (from www.cir-ambiente.it)



(f)Transparent barrier, Margarentengütel in Vienna Austria (Architecture © TREUSCH architecture)



(g) Concept barriers for the Waterview Connection Project, New Zealand. Reproduced with permission of Well Connected Alliance





Using standardised components. An approach developed within the Netherlands as part of the Dutch Noise Innovation Program (IPG) was the concept of using a 'toolkit' of standardised noise barrier components across the road network (Hallinga et al, 2004), examples of which are shown in Figure 2.16. The approach was derived from Dutch architecture policy which aimed to enhance the quality of public spaces by preventing the occurrence of architecturally untidy/cluttered highways. The performance and costs of the toolkit are known, thereby assisting planners and architects in reducing overall costs and improving the visual continuity between different barrier schemes. The IPG modular barrier toolkit comprised (free-standing) posts with heights from 2 up to 8 m, acoustically reflective (concrete and glass) and absorptive (rockwool) acoustic panels and mounting components (clamps, etc. for fitting the panels in between the posts). The potential for adding further elements to the toolkit, such as T-profile barrier caps, was also recognised.



### Figure 2.16: Examples of the IPG modular noise barrier toolkit and the construction alongside the A12 in the Netherlands (from Morgan, 2008)

Within the IPG programme, an 8 m high, 1.2 km long barrier was constructed on the A12 highway using the MNB toolkit (see Figure 2.16) and a modular T-profile barrier was constructed alongside the A28 highway.

Other examples of these different types of practice can be found in the review of European Best Practice by Huber et al (2013).

**Potential Advantages:** The use of improved aesthetics relative to conventional noise barriers is likely to enhance the acceptance of the noise barriers by the general public. It may also make the purpose of the noise barrier less obvious.

**Potential Disadvantages:** Depending upon the design and materials used, the barriers might be more expensive and construction/installation process may last longer than that for a conventional plane noise barrier and require additional staff/equipment.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 4: Improving the visual statement of the barrier can be achieved through the use of existing products and is more a function of design.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' to Band '+'. The cost depends upon the method by which the strong visual statement is made. Merely changing the colour of a barrier will have little impact upon the cost, whereas changing the shape or profile of the barrier, for example, might



require greater structural support, stronger foundations or the use of more materials than the implementation of a simple plane screen noise barrier.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: Since this is more about the design of the barrier rather than its performance, the concept is one that is readily implemented by road authorities, even if in the majority of cases it is deemed unnecessary or not considered, with 'off-the-shelf' products being routinely used. The importance of visual aesthetics will vary from scheme to scheme and will be a key consideration during the design stage if the introduction of a barrier is perceived by the general public to blight the surrounding location.

### 2.2.5 Added devices

Added devices are defined within CEN/TS 1793-4:2002 (CEN, 2003) as acoustic elements that are fitted on the top of conventional plane-screen noise barrier to enhance performance, serving primarily to affect diffracted sound energy. This is typically achieved with either no or a small increase in the height of the original noise barrier, and therefore offers potential for improving screening performance both during the initial design of new barrier installations or via retrofitting the devices to existing barriers. They work by moving the position of the leading diffracting edge closer to the noise source, adding additional diffracting edges, increasing the surface area of sound absorptive material at the top of the barrier or a combination of these effects.

From the perspective of what the devices offer with regards to bonus secondary functions, they change the aesthetics of the barrier.

Various research projects have studied the design of such added devices for use alongside roads and/or railways, using combinations of numerical modelling and full-scale testing, e.g. de Roo et al (2004). Considerable work has been undertaken on the performance of these devices in Japan; see, for example, the summary by Morgan (2004). Other studies where the performance of specific devices have been investigated include assessments of multiple-edge diffracting devices (Watts, 1996), interference devices (Watts and Morgan, 1996), T-profile devices (Kaptein et al, 2004), cylindrical caps (Asdrubali, 2007) and caps incorporating Helmholtz resonators (Bockstedte and Zaleski, 2011)... More recently, on-road trials of different devices have been reported by Kragh and Skov (2014).



Figure 2.17: Examples of added devices (from Morgan, 2008)

Such devices are presently not widely used across Europe; indeed, their use by National Road Administrations is presently limited to Italy and Poland, the devices typically being curved or octagonal-shaped devices.



**Potential Advantages:** The devices improve acoustic performance of a plane screen with no or little increase in height. They can change the aesthetics of the barrier from the perspective of both road users and residents living behind the barrier.

**Potential Disadvantages:** It is perceived to be a lack of data on their overall effectiveness, although the forthcoming issue of the full EN 1793-4 standard on diffraction performance provides a standard way of characterising performance and comparing the efficiency of different devices.

The ability to accurately model the acoustic behaviour of added devices within noise modelling software is restricted and in many cases unavailable.

It is considered that the devices are expensive in comparison to merely increasing the height of a plane screen.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 3-4. Whilst some devices have not been demonstrated beyond roadside trials for research purposes, there are various added devices that are commercially available.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' to 'Band '+'. In this instance, the costs are considered relative to increasing the height of an existing screen. Depending upon the type of barrier onto which the device is to be fitted and the type of device to be implemented, the existing barrier might require some structural modification before the device can be installed.

**Potential for use by NRAs** It could be readily implemented by road administrations already. However, it will not be suited to all situations where noise barriers are/can be used since the acoustic efficiency is still questioned and studied, and from the perspective of aesthetics of the barrier, the secondary function, the gain is rather limited.

### 2.3 Designed (concept) secondary functions

### 2.3.1 Integrated lighting

Instead of mounting lights onto noise barriers, lighting elements could potentially be incorporated directly into the acoustic elements of noise barriers so that the upper section of the noise barrier could serve as street lighting. It is anticipated that such a measure would only be used in circumstances where there was no existing street lighting, and that there was a confirmed need at the individual location for lighting to be installed, e.g. to improve safety. No examples of this type of application have been identified.

**Potential Advantages:** This would eliminate the need for street lighting in the central reservation of the highway and potentially reduce light disturbance on the receiver side of the noise barrier due to the lights being below the top of the barrier.

**Potential Disadvantages:** It is expected that this approach would only be suitable for those barriers in close proximity to and at the same level as the road, otherwise there would most likely be insufficient illumination. The position of the lights might require regular maintenance to keep the lights clean etc. The quantity of integrated lighting installed would require careful



consideration and design to ensure that, in providing adequate illumination, the energy consumption required would not exceed that for conventional street lighting appropriate to the road type/location in question; where no lighting is currently in place, the need for installing such lighting would need to be fully justified.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 1 (no such systems have been identified from the literature review)

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++' if compared to conventional noise barriers alone, as not only would the acoustic elements incorporating the lights be more expensive, it would be necessary to install cabling and any other necessary associated systems so that the lights could be connected to the local power network. However, noise barriers with integrated street lighting might be more economical than the combined cost of a conventional barrier and street lights.

**Potential for use by NRAs:** No examples of this technology have been identified in the literature. Therefore there is no scope for NRA implementation without research and development work to investigate the feasibility and practicability of the concept.

### 2.3.2 Advertising displays

This secondary function would see noise barriers used to support advertising hoardings in some manner, such as being either mounted directly onto the barrier façade, or with the barrier serving as a base for advertising hoardings/displays to be mounted above the top of the main barrier.

It is assumed that adverts displayed below the top of the barrier would be mounted in the same plane as the noise barrier, i.e. flush with the barrier facade and not at an angle to the façade. Were advertisement hoardings/display to be mounted above the top of the noise barrier, it is assumed that these could be set at a different angle, although the height of the barrier would need to be such that the sign did not protrude into the emergency lane or, if none is present, the closest running lane.

An appropriate manner of mounting and ensuring the robustness of the advertisements would need to be identified, so that the risk of the advertisements breaking up and debris entering the road space would be eliminated. If the barriers are to be mounted above the top of the existing barrier, it would need to be ensured that the barrier foundations are sufficient to cope with the extra wind loading.

No examples have been found for this type of application. However, it is possible to digitally print onto the surfaces of metal cartridge noise barriers, so in principle, the display of permanent adverts on barrier facades that did not require to be replaced are already feasible.

**Potential Advantages:** The advertisements would be fitted onto an existing structure, so issues such as planning restrictions for the placement of new hoardings etc. might be eliminated, unless they were to extend above the height of the existing barrier. The length of barriers available on road networks potentially offers a significant increase in the capacity for advertisement placement.



**Potential Disadvantages:** There have been a number of studies looking at the optimum angle for advertisements when road users are the target audience. Mounting adverts onto the facades of noise barriers so that the adverts are displayed parallel to traffic would be mean that they are displayed at an inappropriate angle and may adversely affect driver behaviour due to distraction and the angle of view, causing safety risks for road users. In some countries e.g. Germany there are national laws forbidding advertisements near to highways because of safety issues.

If the advertisements were to become detached from the barrier, there is a risk that they could cause road accidents by interfering with the safe passage of drivers and may also pose a safety risk to pedestrians/residents at the rear of the barrier.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 4 in the case of using digital printing to 'place' the advertisements. Level 1 for other options based on the lack of evidence of noise barriers being used for this purpose.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' in the case of using digital printing to place the other advertisements. No estimate is made for using other options for using noise barriers to display adverts.

**Potential for use by NRAs:** There appear to be no physical or technical difficulties that would potentially prohibit implementation of the concept; however, concerns arising from studies related to effects on driver behaviour/road user safety (based on the position/orientation of the signs relative to the carriageway) are such that there is considered to be little or no use for the approach by NRAs in practice. Existing legislation already prohibits the concept in some countries.

### 2.3.3 Informative displays

This secondary function would see noise barriers used to display road user information, e.g. for indicating the proximity of a car accident, traffic jams or slowing down traffic, through the use of digital matrix signs attached to the noise barrier. It is assumed that matrix signs installed below the top of the barrier would be displayed in the same plane as the noise barrier, i.e. flush with the barrier facade and not at an angle to the façade.

As with the advertising displays, it is assumed that matrix signs mounted above the top of the noise barrier could be set at a different angle, providing that they did not interfere with traffic.

Providing that wind loading issues could be resolved, the mounting of smaller temporary matrix signs such as those currently used in some countries for advance signing of road works, etc., on the top of a noise barrier, might be feasible, although it would not be possible to install these without a crane, meaning that such an application is unlikely.

**Potential Advantages:** Installation costs may be less than those for the installation of overhead gantries/matrix signs.

**Potential Disadvantages:** The issue of the angle of the displays relative to passing drivers posing safety risks is the same as for advertising displays, as discussed above. Depending upon the information displayed and the position relative to the on-road incident/issue, the



matrix signs would not be visible from a sufficient distance to provide adequate warning for drivers.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 1. Although matrix signs are routinely used on highways, there are no examples of their use in conjunction with noise barriers.

Indicative Cost Band: No estimate is made for using noise barriers for this purpose.

**Potential for use by NRAs:** There appear to be few physical or technical difficulties that would potentially prohibit implementation of the concept; however, the effectiveness of existing matrix sign technologies, the potentially late notification to drivers and concerns arising from studies related to effects on driver behaviour/road user safety (based on the position/orientation of the signs relative to the carriageway) are such that there is considered to be little or no use for the approach by NRAs in practice.

### 2.3.4 Rainwater harvesting

This secondary function could seek to overcome water shortages during extended dry periods or reduce general public water consumption from conventional sources by using noise barriers fitted with guttering type arrangements to collect rainwater which would then be stored in underground tanks. No examples have been found for this type of application.

A closely related trial project is ongoing in Denmark (de Neef, 2014), where water is not collected but instead slowly released. In this trial, the idea is to collect storm water run-off from nearby roofs and slowly release this over a period of three days, by way of evapotranspiration and the sewer system, to reduce peak discharge volumes during rain events. It will not be able to handle large volumes from cloudbursts, but can retain a fraction at least. For now the collected water is not foreseen for use by others purposes, but this could become an extension in the future, e.g. for nearby gardens. The level of water collected would be considerably greater than that collected by the proposed noise barrier application.

**Potential Advantages:** Local stored water supply for use by residents in times of drought or to supplement existing supplies

**Potential Disadvantages:** Collected water quantities are likely to be relatively low, since there are no run-off surfaces emptying into the guttering. The cost and spatial requirements for installing underground tanks are likely to be prohibitive and some form of pump system may also be required so that water within the storage tanks could be diverted into existing drainage systems. Drained water from roads could be polluted or at least not ideal for some kinds of use.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 1. Whilst the idea is feasible, no evidence beyond the Danish trial has been identified

Indicative Cost Band: No estimate is made for using noise barriers for this purpose.

Potential for use by NRAs: The technique is considered unlikely to be implemented by NRAs.



This page is intentionally left blank



### 3 Low-noise pavements with secondary functions

Road surfaces with secondary functions are significantly less prevalent than noise barriers with secondary functions. Any move to introduce a secondary function must be achieved without adversely affecting primary performance factors associated with road surfaces, such as skidding resistance, noise emission, rolling resistance, etc. Since the inclusion of secondary functions may, depending upon the design, result in a more expensive pavement, it is also important that durability, both in terms of repair frequency and working lifetime should preferably be comparable to or better than that of conventional surfaces.

The review has identified a range of different technologies and concepts that have been applied to introduce secondary functions and which have undergone practical trials on various locations. These include dynamic road markings, inductive charging, heat capture/storage for various applications, modular pavements and the use of photocatalytic coatings.

### 3.1 Designed (demonstrated) secondary functions

### 3.1.1 Dynamic road markings

Beyond the use of conventional road traffic signs and, increasingly, LED-matrix type signals, raising the awareness of drivers on-road to current road and traffic conditions is largely outside of the control of National Road Authorities. Mechanisms such as the broadcast of information via radio and TV traffic/weather alerts or sat-nav traffic alerts may be useful but may only reach a small percentage of drivers.

However, recent developments in so-called dynamic road markings may offer a further option which would inform all drivers on the affected road. Dynamic road markings are those which react to local conditions to visually alert drivers of changes in physical conditions such as temperature and traffic flow.

Smart Highway (<u>http://www.smarthighway.net/</u>), a joint venture between Studio Roosegaarde and Heijmans Infrastructure (2014), is one such project developing new designs and technologies for future road schemes. These designs include concepts such as:

- Dynamic (luminescent) paints for road lane delineation, e.g. edge lines, which 'charge' during the daytime, enabling them to glow at night and thereby making lanes and road edges visible. Such markings are already in use in a pilot trial on the N329 in Oss, the Netherlands.
- Dynamic paints which show "ice crystal" symbols on the pavement which only appear when the temperature is close to or below 0°C.
- Dynamic road markings which can be used for 'real-time' traffic control, i.e. 'turned on' at certain times to indicate priority lanes for electric vehicles, car sharing, etc., or to control overtaking. The precise mechanism for controlling when the lanes are in operation for such purposes is not clear from the available literature.



For a wider application by NRAs beyond trials, information would be required from how far the road markings are visible, how skid resistant they are, how visible they are during the day and how they would perform in winter when there are fewer hours of daylight, but it is highly likely that there is insufficient energy stored in the winter season, hence the marking would not be visible during a significant part of the night, which is of course unacceptable. No information is available on the durability of the dynamic paints. Even if durability of the "ice crystal" markings would be comparable with conventional, state of the art road marking paints, there would be a durability problem as they suffer much more wheel passes than the edge and lane separation lines. It may be expected that they would disappear completely in the wheel tracks within a few months, if not weeks.



Figure 3.1: Examples of dynamic road marking concepts within the Smart Highway venture (Picture reproduced with permission of Studio Roosegaarde – awaiting permission mail@studioroosegaarde.net)

**Potential Advantages:** Apart from the aesthetic aspect and the "fun" factor, one can see little advantages for the concept of the "ice crystal" symbols. According to the authors this is more a "gadget" than a serious innovation for future road design. The luminescent lines could be interesting to enhance traffic safety, provided they are visible during the whole night, which is not the case. The current conventional method of making markings visible during the night, i.e. by making them retroreflective by adding glass beads, works well, but has the disadvantage that the glass beads gradually wear away. It is very unlikely that luminescent markings are a solution for that.

The use of such technologies for traffic control, e.g. to operate priority lanes or control overtaking could potentially be considerably less expensive than using conventional means such as over-lane gantry signals, however, this is assumed in the absence of any information on how such systems operate.

**Potential Disadvantages:** Too little energy storage in luminescent road markings and insufficient durability of systems constantly overrun by vehicles for the ice crystal concept.

There is also the consideration that their use to provide information on physical road conditions, e.g. low temperatures, icy conditions, etc. might merely reflect information that would be available to drivers through existing on-board vehicle technologies, particularly on new vehicles.



**Technical Feasibility** Level 3 for dynamic road markings used for road lane delineation. Level 1 for dynamic road markings used for traffic control.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=' for dynamic road markings used for road lane delineation, although this is based upon the best judgement of the authors of this report; the application of road markings will be a relatively small cost within a road scheme, so that whilst dynamic paints may be more expensive than those paints used for conventional road markings, it is still considered likely that such paints would be relatively inexpensive.

Indicative costs for using dynamic paints as part of dynamic traffic control cannot be estimated as the manner in which they would be controlled is unknown.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: Pilot trials of dynamic road markings have been undertaken with some success, but the need for further investigations to investigate performance factors mean that this concept is not yet ready for implementation. Proof would be required to demonstrate that the concept could perform better than other existing approaches. As such, no indication can be given as to the likely future scale of implementation.

### 3.1.2 Inductive charging

Based on current national government strategies and public attitudes towards energy efficient and sustainable transport, the use of electric vehicles across Europe is increasing and is expected to continue to do so. Many current technology fully-electric vehicles have a limited range and therefore the scope for performing longer journeys on roads typically controlled by NRAs, e.g. motorways, is limited unless charging points are readily available along the journey route.

This application consists of electric vehicle charging as a secondary function of road surfaces, by providing the infrastructure through which electric vehicles can be charged in a dynamic, as opposed to static, manner.

One project, FlandersDrive (undated; see also Perik 2013a, Perik 2013b) focussed on the actual transfer of charge to vehicles and their operation rather than on the generation of the power to be transferred. Inductive systems were successfully fitted to both a bus and a passenger car. From the perspective of dynamic charging, the work focused on the inductive charging of electric buses with charging systems trialled in both concrete and asphalt surfaces. The results showed that the technique is feasible, applicable and electrically safe. However the practicalities of whether an inductive system can be readily integrated into a road surface require further investigations, with the results suggesting that prefabricated, modular road sections may be preferable. The focus now is rather on static rather than on dynamic charging.

Elsewhere, Nguyen et al (2014) assessed different prefabricated concrete slabs with integrated electrical supply cables, designed to act as charging system for electric vehicles by induction. The study monitored the strains and displacements measured under a dual wheel load and revealed that joint deflections after one million passes of the wheel were minor and that horizontal strain loads were very small. The report concluded that the technology is a promising solution for powering electric vehicles in urban areas.



Inductive charging has been successfully implemented in Braunschweig, Germany by Bombardier Transportation for the static charging of buses since 2013.

**Potential Advantages:** The availability of dynamic inductive charging for electric vehicles in motion would favour the use of fully electric vehicles on NRA roads, both for short journeys as for trips which exceed the action radius of the electric vehicles, since routes would not need to be planned based upon the locations of static charging points, e.g. at motorway service stations.

**Potential Disadvantages:** The reliability of the technology has to be robustly demonstrated or require systems to be designed to ensure minimal maintenance. Faults should only affect small sections of the charging. for the system may be damaged during road maintenance activities.

The cost for installing dynamic induction charging surfaces might be significantly greater than for the installation of static charging points and a higher percentage of the fleet should consist of electric/hybrid vehicles for the investment to be justified.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 2 for dynamic induction charging. The approach has been demonstrated at small scale and only for a limited vehicle selection. Level 3-4 for static induction charging.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++', based on the judgement of the authors of this report; the published findings suggest that the technologies would be expensive, especially if one has to use prefabricated pavements.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concepts have been demonstrated, but require further development before they will be ready for use. The level of infrastructure required is likely to be prohibitive for the concept to be widely used on NRA roads unless national transport policies result in a high percentage of future fleets being electric vehicles.

### 3.1.3 Heat capture/storage

There are a number of potential applications for heat captured from road surfaces, as outlined below

#### (a) For provision of electrical power

The provision of energy capture via solar panels is becoming increasingly common and is a technology that is starting to be introduced as a secondary function on noise barriers. However, energy/heat capture through road surfaces is a concept that is much more in its infancy.

Heat capture through innovative pavement design can be achieved through a number of different technologies and used in different ways, as highlighted here and in section 3.1.4. This section focusses on heat generation for use in buildings and homes.

Work in the Netherlands (WinnerWay, undated) has been carried out towards obtaining renewable energy from infrastructure including the design of road structures and asphalt



collectors for the extraction of heat and cold energy. The asphalt collectors were tested in 1998 and showed that 30 m<sup>2</sup> of asphalt was necessary to provide heat for a modern, wellinsulated house for one year. The energy could also be stored through a heat pump for use in delivering hot tap water or heating other spaces such as car parks or airports. The asphalt collector is built into the pavement substructure and in summer heat is extracted from aquifers (60 to 100m below ground level) and transferred, via a heat exchanger, to a suitable energy storage system. This energy can be used as low-grade heat for buildings, up to around 24°C, although it is primarily used for heating road surfaces (see next Section).

A similar system has been used for the climate control of buildings for a number of years, such as the station buildings at Schiphol airport.

In the United States solar panels embedded within road surfaces have been installed in parking lots and funding is being sought to roll them out to highways (solarroadways.com; TrafficTechnologyToday.com, 2014). They consist of interlocking tempered glass hexagonal panels. The intention is for the stored heat to be transferred as energy supply for local buildings (see Section 3.1.4 for further details).

**Potential Advantages:** The systems would provide low-grade heat or electricity to buildings which could serve as an alternative to or complement the use of conventional solar panels (mounted either on buildings or as part of noise barrier installations).

**Potential Disadvantages:** The systems are likely to be complex and time intensive to install and may be difficult to maintain. They may also be affected by any routine surface maintenance or other service works (e.g. cable or water mains replacement) that might be required. For systems with solar cells one has to have (and maintain) a pavement which is at the same time very transparent and sufficiently skid resistant, which is in the current state of the technology not feasible according to the authors. Any kind of glass will be scratched and polished almost instantly by the action of tyres and the inevitable presence of sand and small stones on the pavement. One could avoid this by making the pavement from the very hard sapphire, which would resist much better to scratching and polishing due to its extreme hardness, but the price would be far above any reasonable limit. And even a very hard surface would become dirty, reducing the solar energy harvested by the solar cells.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 2 for both asphalt collectors and in-road solar panels. None of these technologies have yet proceeded to being tested on public roads.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++' based on the judgement of the authors of this report and the current state of development of the technologies.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it will be ready for routine use by road administrations. It is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use due to the additional infrastructure required.

#### (b) For road de-icing

An alternative secondary function for capturing and storing heat energy via road surfaces is automatic road heating in winter conditions to reduce, if not eliminate, the need for roads to be gritted/salted. Various trials have been identified from a review of the literature.



The system tested in the Netherlands (WinnerWay, undated; see previous Section) was designed primarily to use the heat from the energy storage system to warm the road surface to a temperature of around  $7^{\circ}$ C. The system could also be used to cool the surface in the summer.

In Japan several demonstrations have been carried out to test the use of underground heat recovery and storage for the de-icing of roads in winter.

Fukuhara et al, (2002) describe two snow melting systems using ground heat, one being a reservoir heat collection system which includes two water tanks underground used for melting snow in a car parking area and the other being a borehole heat exchange system used for melting snow on a pedestrian pavement. Results are reported from tests carried out in the winter of 1999/2000. As with the Dutch work the systems could also be used to cool the pavement in summer to prevent rutting from heavy vehicles.

Tanaka et al (2003) evaluated results from the borehole heat exchange system described by Fukuhara et al. This system uses geothermal energy from 50 to 150m below ground for heat storage and melting of surface snow. Data shows that the road surface temperature using this system is of the order of 6°C higher than the corresponding air temperature. It was claimed that operating costs were of the order of 10-20 times cheaper than conventional electric heating or boiler systems. The extracted heat, over a year, was found to be around 8 times greater than the power consumption over that period.

The performance and development of a road heating system using electricity generated by wind power, installed at the entrance to a tunnel, has also been looked at (Ishida, 2002). Heating cables were installed at the base of a 4m layer underneath a semi-flexible pavement layer consisting of open graded asphalt concrete with a high void ratio. The heated sections of pavement at either end of the tunnel were found to be between 2 and 6°C warmer than the surface in the tunnel which was not heated.

In Europe, Eugster and Schatzmann (2002) reported on a Swiss system which collects excess heat from solar warming just below the road surface and stores it underground. The objective was to prevent ice formation on a highway bridge surface. The stored heat is used to control the temperature of the surface in winter and keep it just above 0°C. Benefits of the system were listed as a reduction in traffic accidents, more free flowing traffic, less maintenance work and an extended lifetime for the surface. In summer, approximately 140 MWh of energy was stored but around one third of that was lost to the surroundings prior to its use in winter, which is one demand. Depending on the severity of the winter conditions between 30 and 100 MWh of energy was needed to keep the surface above 6°C and prevent the formation of snow and ice. For the system to be adapted to other types of road, new approaches will be needed for laying down the heat exchangers and revised construction of the road surface (this could possibly be achieved using modular (prefabricated) road surfaces. Eugster reported in 2007 that the Swiss plant was still operational and that other studies on geothermal road/bridge heating were on going in Germany and Switzerland..

**Potential Advantages:** The systems would reduce, if not eliminate the need for the salting/gritting of roads in winter conditions; not only would this potentially offer cost savings to road authorities, but would also eliminate the impacts of sudden changes in weather conditions, when road gritters receive insufficient notice for roads to be treated in time. This



would in turn increase the safety of driving conditions during the winter months and potentially keep roads open during adverse conditions.

Reduced salt application and the reduction in the clearing of snow using snow ploughs, etc. is likely to extend the lifetime of the surfaces.

**Potential Disadvantages:** The systems are likely to be costly, complex and time intensive to install and may be difficult to maintain. They may also be affected by any routine surface maintenance or other service works (e.g. cable or water mains replacement) that might be required. Gritting vehicles, with stand-by crews and a suitable supply of road salt might require to be maintained as a back-up in the event of the road heating systems failing.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 3. Away from pedestrian areas, the main application for such systems to date has been to prevent ice formation on bridge structures. Systems have been shown to work on small sections of road in Japan but the techniques are unproven on different pavement types.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++'. The systems are expected to be considerably more expensive than conventional surfaces, especially in terms of initial installation. Assessment of the cost-effectiveness would have to be based on a road-by-road basis, taking into account the type of surface that would normally be used, the frequency of salting/gritting and the quantities of salt/grit and/or the frequency of clearing with snow ploughs and the costs associated with those operations.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it will be ready for routine use by road administrations. It is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use due to the additional infrastructure required.

(c) Heat capture/storage for road surface cooling

In addition to surface heating it is possible to consider the opposite problem of pavements which are too warm and lose durability as a result.

Both the Dutch (WinnerWay, undated) and Japanese (Fukuhara et al, 2002) systems described previously could be applied for this purpose.

Japanese research (Kawakami, 2008) explains that cool pavement techniques include water retention and heat shield pavements. With a heat shield pavement the surface is coated with a special paint that enhances solar reflectance. However, it was acknowledged that improvements are needed in terms of both preventing the removal of the coating from heavy traffic and applying the coating in an efficient and automated manner. Four types of thermal barrier were tested and maximal temperature reductions of between 10 and 20°C were achieved when the control pavement temperature was very high (~60°C). The structure, cooling performance and skid resistance of the test surfaces were tested after 400000 wheel loads of heavy vehicles and results showed that cooling performance was largely maintained and rutting and skid resistance were similar to the control pavement, indicating that there was no detrimental impact to the pavement from the coating. Further work was to be carried out to try and reduce initial costs and improve the associated reductions in air temperature.



**Potential Advantages:** Use of the systems might increase the lifetime of the pavement by preventing softening of the asphalt and rutting during periods of the year with high temperatures. Durability should be further tested.

**Potential Disadvantages:** The systems are likely to be costly, complex and time intensive to install and may be difficult to maintain. They may also be affected by any routine surface maintenance or other service works (e.g. cable or water mains replacement) that might be required.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 2. The tested systems have been proven under extensive testing in the laboratory but require work on both logistics and cost before they are ready for use on public road networks.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++'. The systems are expected to be considerably more expensive than conventional surfaces, especially in terms of initial installation.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it will be ready for routine use by road administrations. It is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use due to the additional infrastructure required.

### 3.1.4 Modular pavements

The time, costs and impacts on journey time associated with the installation and subsequent maintenance of road surfaces can be prohibitive. It is therefore considered advantageous to reduce construction time. One such approach would be for the use of prefabricated road surfaces which could be easily and quickly installed, and similarly replaced at the end of the surface's lifetime. They would potentially allow road markings, traffic loops, condition monitoring systems, and other useful technologies to be pre-placed prior to the installation of the surface on site. As noted in Section 3.1.2, they are already identified as being a way in which inductive charging systems for electric vehicles might be most readily implemented.

A number of systems have been identified from the literature review that have been trialled, in some cases on public highways. However, there is little evidence that these solutions have been adopted for routine use by road authorities, most likely because of the high costs. Two such innovative modular surfaces were tested initially within the framework of the Dutch 'Roads to the Future' programme and subsequently in the Dutch road traffic noise innovation programme, IPG (Morgan, 2008) as follows:

• 'Rollpave': A rollable, porous thin layer surface that was invented and developed by the consortium Dura Vermeer-Intron. The surface is manufactured off-site under factory conditions as a single-layer porous asphalt surface in 50 m long slabs with a width of 3.5 m and thickness of 30 mm. Each slab is then rolled onto a drum. The drums are transported to site and the asphalt is unrolled. A fine iron gauze which is built into the surface during the manufacturing process is then heated by means of induction (to a temperature in excess of 115 degrees) to melt the bituminous layer around the gauze, thereby allowing the surface to bond to the underlying tack coat. A roller is then used to flatten the asphalt mat and the surface is ready for driving on. In principle, reheating the iron gauze to the same temperature breaks the adhesion



between the asphalt and the carrier so that the asphalt mat can be rolled up and removed.

Trial sections were laid on various roads within the Netherlands, including the A50 and the A35. Initial noise reductions were measured in excess of 4 dB(A) relative to a 16 mm Dense Asphalt Concrete surface, with the expectation being for 6-7 dB(A). The expected lifetime of the surface was 10 years, based on the fact that the surface is effectively a thin porous asphalt. Rollpave was comparable to single-layer porous asphalt in terms of skid resistance performance. However, there was increased splash and spray and the surface was less permeable than single-layer porous asphalt. Although the initial costs were high, the expectation was that Rollpave could be laid approximately 50% faster than single-layer porous asphalt and approximately 100% faster than two-layer porous asphalt. No evidence of further test sections have been identified; moreover, the consortium has in the meantime abandoned the idea and disposed of the equipment.





Figure 3.2: Rollpave system Photographs from Morgan (2008)

 'Modieslab': A modular pavement system (<u>www.modieslab.nl</u>) invented and developed by a Dutch consortium comprising Betonson, Heijmans and Arcadis. The surface consists of piled foundations, concrete support slabs and a two-layer porous cement concrete pavement. It is considered to be a rapid construction method for new roads and road widening projects in areas that are sensitive to settlement.



(a) Installation of foundation piles





(c) Installation of concrete slab

### Figure 3.3Modieslab system

Photographs from Morgan (2008)

Test sections were laid on the A50 and A12 in the Netherlands. Initial noise reductions for the surface were in excess of 6 dB(A) relative to a 16 mm Dense Asphalt Concrete surface. The piled foundations and concrete support slabs are expected to have a lifetime equivalent to that of the road. It is expected that the main porous concrete pavement will have a lifetime of 15-30 years. With respect to safety, Modieslab is comparable to two-layer porous asphalt. Modieslab was found to be particularly cost effective for use in areas on soft soils. The construction time on soft soils was much faster than with conventional construction methods which require long settling times to be taken into account. The modular nature of the system means that



replacing slabs is likely to be quicker than the maintenance of conventional asphalt. Low-speed surface concepts have also been developed for use on roads with speeds up to 80 km/h and trialled in Hengelo in the Netherlands. It is unclear whether either the high-speed or low-speed concepts have progressed beyond demonstration/trial sections such as those listed above.

An American concept for a modular surface (http://solarroadways.com) is based upon modular hexagonal solar panels, which directly form the driving surface of the road and are capable of withstanding vehicle loads of up to 130 tonnes. The design of the panels is such that the glass is textured to provide a similar surface texture to conventional asphalt surfaces and includes a range of different additional technologies or benefits including heating elements to keep the surface free of snow/ice, LEDs for providing road

markings and a means to readily allow for the inclusion of power and data cables. The inclusion of induction charging capabilities would allow for the potential of inductive charging under both static and dynamic



Figure 3.4: Solar Roadways system (from http://solarroadways.com)

conditions. Initial trials in a car park (as shown in the photograph) have been funded by the U.S. Federal Highway Administration and the manufacturers are seeking funding to trial the system on roads.

**Potential Advantages:** The surfaces potentially offer reduced paving times compared to the time required to pave conventional surfaces, thereby reducing impacts on journey time reliability; The surfaces offer, depending upon the design, the scope to preinstall road markings, telematics, drainage, etc. Major maintenance may potentially be more readily and easily undertaken as only the directly affected sections of the road need to be replaced.

**Potential Disadvantages:** The systems are very costly and the benefit might be very limited. See also the comments under 3.1.3.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 3: Trials of different types of modular surface have been undertaken, but have yet to see the surfaces proceed to commercially available products. Level 2 for solar roads.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++' due to the initial costs. Considered in terms of whole life costs, the increased cost relative to conventional pavements may be reduced.

**Potential for use by NRAs:** Trials of different types of modular pavement have been undertaken on NRA roads across Europe, which have shown promise but never to such a degree that has resulted in commercially available products. The concepts are recognised as being potentially beneficial by NRAs, for a range of reasons, but it may be some time before robust products are available for widespread use.



### 3.1.5 Self-healing road surfaces

Maintenance of road surfaces causes disruption and thereby any means with which to reduce the frequency of maintenance might, cost dependent, be viewed favourably by road authorities. One approach would be to modify the design of the road surface so that it can be 'self-healing' to repair minor damage. Whilst this idea might seem fanciful, one such concept has been demonstrated in the Netherlands.

A porous asphalt surface containing small steel wool fibres has been laid on the A58 near Vlissingen in The Netherlands. A significant problem that arises with porous asphalt is that of ravelling, i.e. the loss of stones from the surface due to microcracking in the binder. The porous asphalt laid on the A58 was developed by Delft University (sponsored by AgentschapNL) and can be heated with induction energy due to the fibres that are present in the surface. This closes the microcracks and thereby extends the service life of the road (TU Delft, undated; Garcia et al, 2011)

**Potential Advantages:** The working life of the road surface is extended as the surface needs to be physically renewed less frequently, reducing costs for the road authority and causing less disruption to drivers. The surfaces can be repaired before ravelling etc. causes sufficient damage to the road surface to cause damage to vehicles. The reduced frequency of repaving saves money and uses fewer material resources.

**Potential Disadvantages:** The technique has so far only been shown to work for single-layer porous asphalt.

Technical Feasibility: Level 3. The concept has been trialled on the public highway.

**Indicative cost band:** Band '=', assumed on the basis that the only modification to the porous asphalt is the inclusion of the steel wool fibres. However, this cost estimate is based on one possible option for 'self-healing surfaces'; indicative costs cannot be estimated for other types of self-healing surface.

**Potential for use by NRAs:** The concept has been trialled on public roads and, although further investigations are likely to be required, might therefore be implemented in the near future by road administrations on their networks as an alternative to more intensive/disruptive maintenance procedures. However, the primary prohibiting factor restricting its application is that the technique has so far only been shown to work for single-layer porous asphalt, which is not used by some road administrations.

### 3.1.6 Air pollutant capture

As noted in Section 2.1.3, vehicle emissions are one of the main sources of air pollution. Whilst treating the problem at source (i.e. directly on the vehicles) is clearly the most preferable, this is not an option available to National Road Administrations, so measures which could assist in controlling the dispersal of emissions away from the roadside are likely to be considered positively if they can be proven to be effective.

An alternative solution would be to apply an appropriate catalyst to the road surface, hence in an after-emission treatment of the pollutants as close to the source as possible.



Therefore, photocatalytically active materials can be added to the surface of pavement and building materials (Chen, 2009). Air purification through heterogeneous photocatalysis consists of different steps: under the influence of UV-light, the photoactive TiO2 at the surface of the material is activated. Subsequently, the pollutants are oxidized due to the presence of the photocatalyst and precipitated on the surface of the material. Finally, they can be removed from the surface by the rain or cleaning/washing with water, see Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5. Schematic of photocatalytic air purifying pavement.

Heterogeneous photocatalysis with titanium dioxide (TiO2) as catalyst is a rapidly developing field in environmental engineering, as it has a great potential to cope with the increasing pollution (Ohama, 2011). The application of TiO2 as air purifying material originated in Japan in 1996. Since then, a broad spectrum of products appeared on the market. Regarding traffic emissions, it is important that the exhaust gases stay in contact with the active surface during a certain period. The street configuration, the speed of the traffic, the speed and direction of the wind, all influence the final reduction rate of pollutants in situ.

Towards pavements different types may be distinguished: photocatalytic pavement blocks, for instance applied in Antwerp, Belgium (Beeldens, 2008), Bergamo, Italy (Guerrini, 2007), Hengelo, The Netherlands (Balari, 2013) and in Japan. The combination of a hot mix asphalt and a cementitious mortar to which TiO2 is added (Crispino, 2007), is applied in Italy and in France or alternatively concrete overlays or double layered pavements as applied in Paris, France (Gignoux, 2010) or Wijnegem, Belgium (Boonen, 2013).

In the case of concrete pavement blocks, TiO2 is added to the wearing layer of the pavers which is approximately 8 mm thick. In the case of cast-in-place concrete pavements, the TiO2 is added in the top layer (40 mm thick). The fact that the TiO2 is present over the whole thickness of this layer means that even if some surface wear takes place, for example by traffic or weathering, new TiO2 will be present at the surface to maintain the photocatalytic activity. Alternatively, TiO2 dispersion (Dylla, 2010, Brovelli, 2013) may be sprayed on the surface of the pavement to provide a more direct action, and a lower initial cost (e.g., lower TiO2 consumption). In this case however, the longevity of the photocatalytic action could be questioned because of loss of adhesion to the surface in time.

Overall, laboratory results indicate a good efficiency towards the abatement of NOx in in the air by using these innovative materials. Also, the durability of the photocatalytic action was shown to remain intact for the pavement blocks of Antwerp (Boonen, 2013), though regular cleaning (by rain) of the surface is necessary. However, the translation from the laboratory



results to the "on-site efficiency" is still a difficult and critical factor, because of the great number of parameters involved.

In addition, durability of the photocatalytic action in time (for products mixed in the mass and/or applied on the surface) can still be problematic for some products with loss of activity in time due to the covering of the TiO2 at the surface by dirt, the detachment of the TiO2 from the surface or the deposition of products from chemical reactions which can take place at the surface. In other cases, even a severe de-activation of the coating was noticed due to high humidity conditions in combination with strong pollution levels and low UV light intensities in a tunnel test site (Gallus, 2015).

**Advantages:** A reduction of airborne pollutants would improve air quality in the vicinity of the roads, if they could be reduced significantly, thereby offering positive health impacts to pedestrians and residents close to the road.

**Disadvantages:** Satisfactory levels of pollutant capture are difficult to be demonstrated and one must bear in mind that photocatalytic applications are not effective everywhere; "good" contact between the airborne pollutants and the active surface is crucial and factors such as wind speed and direction, street configuration and pollution sources all play a very important role. Durability of the photocatalytic materials is still a topic that needs to be investigated further

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 2-3 in terms of whether the solution can be successfully implemented, however, there is less certainty of the overall efficiency on site. This innovative technique should be compared to other measures aimed to improve urban air quality on a cost-benefit analysis basis. Here, also more modern combustion technologies (e.g. EURO standards) or implementations of low emissions zones resulted in a reduction of the urban NO<sub>2</sub> levels by only a few percent at maximum in the past.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '=', based on the judgement of the authors and the limited published data.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it will be ready for use as a recognised air pollution measure use. It is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use due to the factors such as local climate/topography; the durability of the photocatalytic materials would be dependent upon the volume of traffic on the road.

### 3.1.7 Energy generation by vibrations

A recent Dutch trial project (Jansma and Hendriks, 2012) has investigated whether it is possible to harvest energy from vibrations caused by traffic by using piezoelectric materials. It was considered that potential applications for energy collected in this way could include, for example, acting as a sustainable energy source for the batteries of road sensors, LED lighting in cat eyes or LED lighting on a roundabout, although this would depend upon the level of energy collected. The trial was undertaken on the N34 near Hardenberg in the Netherlands.



The research was carried out by an engineering company, Tauw, and the University of Twente. The quantity of harvested energy is dependent upon the traffic volume and traffic speed. In the trial on the N34, the quantity of energy harvested was insufficient to power traffic lights or public lighting, but sufficient for (wireless) movement sensors detecting traffic and alerting traffic lights. As such, the use of piezoelectric sensors in pavements is still in its formative stages and further optimisation is required beyond the work carried out on the N34.

**Potential Advantages:** This approach would provide a sustainable method of energy generation. The method uses innovative techniques to power small devices without the need for cabling.

**Potential Disadvantages:** Embedding piezoelectric material into the surface of the asphalt is troublesome and always a supplementary possible weak point in the surface where damage could occur. The energy quantity harvested is very limited, and so the method appears to have limited applications.

**Technical feasibility:** Level 2-3. The concept has not yet progressed beyond small scale demonstrations on public roads.

**Indicative Cost Band:** Band '++' based on the judgement of the authors and the limited trial data

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The concept still requires further development and proof of effectiveness before it will be ready, if ever, as a recognised energy generation measure for use by road administrations. It is not considered that the technique will ever be appropriate for widespread use on NRA road networks and would most likely only be applicable to heavily trafficked roads.

### 3.2 Bonus (demonstrated) secondary functions

### 3.2.1 Use of recycled materials.

The use of recycled materials in road surface construction, particularly in terms of the use of reclaimed asphalt materials has become an increasingly common practice and is well reported in the literature; see for example techniques for hot mix recycling, hot in-place recycling (Colas, Undated #2), cold mix recycling, cold in-place recycling (Colas, undated #3) and deep recycling (Colas, undated #1). Recent European projects have also covered asphalt recycling, i.e. PARAMIX (ended 2002, <u>www.cimne.upc.es/paramix</u>) an RE-ROAD (ended 2012, <u>http://re-road.fehrl.org/</u>). As such, the use of such materials will not be discussed within this section of the report.

More innovative use of recycled materials is associated with the development of new types of surface which are designed to offer improved noise reductions over conventional low noise pavements. One such surface type is the poro-elastic road surface. This surface type is a wearing course that has a very high content of interconnecting voids, so as to facilitate the passage of air and water through it, but also possesses some elasticity due to the use of rubber granules or fibres (e.g. scrap tyres, "new" rubber or other elastomeric products) as a main aggregate, sometimes supplemented by sand, stones or other friction-enhancing aggregates. The binder is an elastic resin, such as polyurethane, so it should not be



confused with rubberized asphalt (it does not contain bitumen and it is applied at ambient temperature). The surface offers high levels of noise reduction but there have been longstanding issues with the durability of the surface.

PERS surfaces are generally designed with an air void content of at least 20% by volume and with a rubber content of at least 20% by weight. In trials of poro-elastic surfaces reported to date, a polyurethane binder is used to hold the mix together with the binder content ranging from 5-15% by weight. Additional binder is also required to fix the poro-elastic material onto the existing road base course. This may be the same binder as that used to hold the mix together, but epoxy resins have also been used in the past for this purpose.

The surface was originally invented in Sweden in the late 1970ties and later further developed mainly in Sweden and Japan. Trials of the surface type have, for example, been reported by Sandberg and Kalman (2005) and Sandberg et al. (2005) and more recently as part of the Dutch noise innovation project, IPG (Morgan, 2008). Most recently, the surface type has been the subject of investigations within the EC funded "PERSUADE" project (www.persuadeproject.eu); After long investigations in the laboratory (since 2009) and after testing with small scale test areas on little or not trafficked roads, full scale test sections have been constructed on trafficked roads in Denmark , Sweden, Slovenia, Belgium and Poland.

The use of tyre derived materials from waste tyres as a partial aggregate substitute has also been well demonstrated elsewhere.

**Potential Advantages:** The use of recycled materials reduce the use of material resources which would be required for the construction of asphalt and concrete pavements and can have positive benefits in terms of  $CO_2$  emissions associated with road surface construction. It reduces the quantity of materials sent to landfill.

**Potential Disadvantages:** In terms of poro-elastic surfaces, their structural durability were so far considerably poorer than conventional asphalt surfaces, but this issue might be solved in the PERSUADE project. There are also potential issues with the recycling of poroelastic pavements. Potential in-use fire risks as a result of fuel spillages would need to be addressed by including suitable fire retardants within the binder.

**Technical Feasibility:** Level 4 in terms of the use of reclaimed asphalt materials, Level 3 with regard to poro-elastic surfaces.

**Indicative cost band:** Level '-' to Level '=' for the use of reclaimed asphalt materials. Level '++' for poro-elastic surfaces.

**Potential for use by NRAs**: The use of reclaimed asphalt materials for pavement construction/maintenance is a proven concept and already in frequent use by road authorities with respect to asphalt pavements. The use of recycled materials such as concrete is largely restricted to the construction of new roads, where it can be used in the capping or sub-base layers.

In terms of other, more innovative uses of recycled materials, such as for poroelastic road surfaces, although on-road trials have shown promise, it is considered that unlikely that the use of such surfaces by NRAs will be for anything other than a limited number of niche, localised applications in the short to medium term.



This page is intentionally left blank



### 4 Summary, conclusions and recommendations

The objective of the DISTANCE project is to provide National Road Administrations (NRAs) with information and guidance on a wide range of topics to assist them in planning and implementing future noise mitigation measures on their road networks. In the current economic climate, budgetary restrictions mean that NRAs must strive to ensure that implemented measures are fit for purpose and durable whilst keeping costs as low as possible. Noise mitigation measures that provide additional benefits beyond simple noise reduction may therefore be an attractive proposition to NRAs if they can be achieved with relatively little additional expenditure or if whole life costs are favourable.

Work Package 3 of the DISTANCE project has sought to investigate how primary NRA assets such as road surfaces and noise barriers might be enhanced to provide additional benefits, referred to here as 'secondary functions'. Options have been identified and assessed in terms of their known or anticipated (whichever is applicable given the technical readiness of the option) advantages, disadvantages, and likely costs (relative to conventional measures); the level of technical readiness, i.e. how ready they are for commercial application, has also been identified.

The previous sections of the report have reported on the different options that have been identified, from both a comprehensive literature review and an open exchange of novel concepts within the project team, as having secondary functions.

Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 on the following pages summarise the different options identified. Within these tables,

- **technical feasibility** defines when the option is considered likely to be ready for routine implementation by NRAs, as follows:
  - 'Now' indicates that there are considered to be no (major) technical obstructions, and/or that the option is already available, i.e. Technical Feasibility Level 4;
  - *Near'* indicates that the option is still under development, in an experimental phase, or commercialisation is expected to be imminent, i.e. Technical Feasibility Level 3, and
  - *'Future'* indicates that the option is still only a concept. in the early stages of investigation/development, or that substantial research is required to bring the option to the point of commercially availability, i.e. Technical Feasibility Levels 1 and 2.
- **financial impact** indicates the estimated supplementary cost compared to a conventional noise barrier or road surface (represented elsewhere in the report by the Indicative Cost Band);
- **sustainability impact** is split up into 'triple P' approach (planet/profit/people), so that it can be clearly illustrated where there are believed to be multiple impacts; and



Description of	Technical	Financial	Sustainability impact			Why	Why not	Potential
enhancement	feasibility	impact	Ecological ('planet')	Financial ('profit')	Social ('people')			for use by NRA
PVNB	Now	= t0 +	~	~		Renewable energy generation	Maintenance and overall cost	
Safety barriers	Now	+			~	2 functions in 1	Safety issues	
Added devices	Now to Near	= to +			V	Additional reducing noise	Difficult to predict noise benefit	
Enhanced visual characteristics	Now	= to +			V	Urban aesthetics	Cost?	
Transparency	Now	+			~	Urban aesthetics	Cost, safety	
Recycled materials	Now to Future	= to +	V	V		Cost and ecology	None	
Green barriers	Now	= t0 +			×	Urban aesthetics	Maintenance	
TiO2 capture	Near	++	~		v	Health issues	Efficiency	
Electrostatic capture	Future	++	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	Health issues	Efficiency	
Lighting	Future	Unknown		9 C 1000 C 10		2 functions in 1	Cost	
Adverts/information	Now-Future	Unknown	×		×		Distraction of drivers	
Rainwater harvesting	Future	Unknown	×				Negative CBA	

### Table 4.1: Main features of noise barriers with secondary functions



Description of	Technical	Financial	Sustainability impact			Why	Why not	Potential
enhancement	feasibility	impact	Ecological ('planet')	Financial ('profit')	Social ('people')			for use by NRA
Dynamic markings (lane delineation)	Future	=			V	Improve safety	Insufficient light energy storage	
Dynamic markings (lane control)	Future	Unknown			~	Improve traffic movement	Cost and technology	
Inductive charging	Near- Future	++	V			Increased electric vehicle use?	Cost and technology	
Heat capture/storage	Near- Future	**	V	V		Renewable energy generation	Cost and technology	
Modular pavements	Near	++			×	Less disruption to road users. Faster installation and maintenance	Cost	
Self-healing surfaces	Near	=	V			Less maintenance	Limited surface types	
Air pollutant capture	Future	=	V		~	Health issues	Efficiency	
Energy generation	Near							
Recycled materials (asphalt & concrete)	Now - Near	- to =	V	V		Ecology	Durability concern	
Recycled materials (tyres, etc.)	Near	++	V			Ecology	Durability concern	

### Table 4.2: Main features of road surfaces with secondary functions



- **'why/why not'** highlights what, in the authors' estimation, could be the stimulus in the decision making process of whether to integrate a secondary function into a noise barrier or road surface.
- **potential use for NRA** according to the authors' expert judgment based on the previous categories
  - Green means 'readily implemented and suitable for widespread use on an NRA road network'
  - Yellow means 'readily implemented and suitable for restricted use on an NRA road network'
  - Red means 'Not ready for implementation' or 'suitable for very restricted use on an NRA road network'

With regard to acoustic performance, the noise reduction characteristics of noise barriers with secondary functions are expected to be comparable to barriers of the same shape and height, provided that noise insulation properties and, if applicable, noise absorption properties of the materials are comparable with those used in conventional noise barriers.

Similarly, the acoustic performance of road surfaces with secondary functions would be expected to be at least comparable to conventional surfaces, provided that they can be constructed from the same asphalt or cement concrete mixes as conventional low-noise pavements. In the case where recycled materials are used, depending upon the surface type, these may offer improved noise reductions over conventional surfaces.

The review has identified a range of different noise barrier and road surface technologies that provide secondary functions. Some of the measures identified are in fact already used, whilst some are still concepts which require further demonstration to prove their practicality and financial viability for routine use.

However, recommending specific secondary functions for routine implementation by National Road Administrations is not a straightforward issue.

In simple terms, if a road scheme requires noise mitigation then the decision to install either a low-noise road surface and/or a conventional noise barrier might be clear-cut, with the final choice (including the specific type/design) being dependent primarily on cost, the level of noise reduction required and the size of the area to be protected. However, in terms of secondary functions, then the following need to be considered:

• Is there a need for a specific secondary function(s) at that location?

If yes, then the choice will be based on the best solution within that function type, again coming down to cost, level of benefit, and area to benefit. If no, then

• Is there a benefit to the barrier and/or surface being installed at that location having a secondary function?



Where there are multiple secondary functions that could be of benefit, it will be down to the individual NRA to determine what is most appropriate for them. In such circumstances, it is considered that for noise barriers that photovoltaic noise barriers would be the most likely candidate, (this will also be the most visible secondary function from a public perspective); for road surfaces, the choice is unclear as the technologies are still largely concepts and the use of recycled asphalts is fairly commonplace.

For any given secondary function, the decision to implement will need to take into account whether the benefit is experienced by a limited number of people or the wider population. For example, transparent noise barriers will benefit residents in the first row of houses behind the barrier and to a lesser extent (particularly in terms of duration) road users, whereas photovoltaic cells might generate energy for a larger percentage of the local population. The benefits will also need to be compared against the cost to install that measure and any infrastructure needed to manage or retrieve the benefit.

It must be noted that not all of the secondary functions identified will be suitable for widespread use on a given NRA road network. This will be particularly relevant in the use of photovoltaics, as the location of the scheme and/or the orientation of the photovoltaic cells as the energy generated may not justify the cost involved for installation of the barrier and management of the collected energy.

The following designed and bonus secondary functions are considered by the authors as being presently available and which might offer the most useful benefits to NRAs:

For noise barriers:

- Noise barriers incorporating photovoltaic elements.
- Integrated noise and safety barriers.
- Enhanced visual aesthetics (including the use of transparency) to better match the noise barrier to its installation environment.
- Green barriers.

#### For road surfaces

• Use of recycled materials (recycled asphalts).

It is important to note that often, noise barriers and low noise road surfaces are used in combination to provide more effective noise mitigation solutions than using the measures independently. It is considered that none of the barriers or surfaces with secondary functions reported here are likely to conflict with one another in terms of the effects of secondary functions being cancelled out. Indeed, with careful design and planning, it may even be possible to utilise the benefits from one measure to support another, e.g. using energy generated, although such approaches have not been demonstrated. Such considerations would have to be made on a scheme by scheme basis and would be influenced by a wide range of factors, with cost being a key issue.



### References

Abbas, A.R., Liang, R.Y., Frankhouser, A., Cardina, J. and Cubick, K.L. (2011) *Noise Wall Construction and Evaluation* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/43000/43080/134556\_FR.pdf</u>

Armtec (Undated). *Whisper Wall* [online] [Accessed March 2015]. Guelph, Ontario, Canada: Armtec. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://files.armtec.com/Downloads/Categories/Noise-</u> <u>Control/Whisper\_Wall/Whisper\_Wall\_Brochure.pdf</u>

Asdrubali, F. (2007). On the experimental evaluation of the performances of noise barrier diffracting devices. *Acta Acustica united with Acustica* 93, 659-669.

Ballari, M.M. and Brouwers, H.J.H. (2013). Full scale demonstration of air-purifying pavement [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **254-255**, 406-414. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://josbrouwers.bwk.tue.nl/publications/Journal89.pdf</u>

Barcode A40 (2009). *Projekt Barcode A40* (in German) [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>www.barcode-a40.de</u>

Beeldens, A. (2008). Air purification by pavement blocks: Final results of the research at the BRRC. *Proceedings of Transport Research Arena, TRA 2008*, Ljubljana, Slovenia, 21–24 April 2008.

Bellucci, P, and La Monica, S. (2012) *Applicazione del Project Financing alle barriere acusto-fotovoltaiche*. Rome, Italy: Associazione Nazionale Allevatori Suini.

Bendtsen, H., Andersen, B., Kalman, B. and Cesbron, J. (2013). The first poroelastic test section in PERSUADE. *Proceedings of Inter-Noise 2013*, Innsbruck, Austria.

Blaschke, S. (2011). Are photocatalytic noise barriers an environmentally sound option? (Master's of Engineering and Public Policy Thesis) [online] [Accessed March 2015]. Hamilton, Ontario, Canada: McMaster University. Available from World Wide Web: <a href="http://msep.mcmaster.ca/epp/publications/student/Sophia%20Blaschke.pdf">http://msep.mcmaster.ca/epp/publications/student/Sophia%20Blaschke.pdf</a>

Bockstedte, A. and Zaleski, O. (2011). *Lärmschutzwände mit Beugungskante aus Helmholtz-Resonatoren für Lkw* (Noise barriers with a diffraction edge of Helmholtz resonators for trucks) [in German]. Bonn, Germany: Federal Ministry of Transport, Building and Urban Development -BMVBS-, Road Construction Department.

Bombardier (2013). Bombardier Begins Operation of the First Inductive High Power Charging Station for PRIMOVE Electric Buses [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Press Release, September 10, 2013. Berlin, Germany: Bombardier Transportation. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.bombardier.com/en/media-centre/newsList/details.bombardier-transportation20130910bombardierbeginsoperationofthef.bombardiercom.html</u>



Boonen, E. and Beeldens, A. (2013). Photocatalytic roads: From lab testing to real scale applications. *European Transport Research Review*, **5**(2), 79–89.

van der Borg, N.J.C.M. and Jansen, M.J. (2001). *Photovoltaic noise barrier at the A9-highway in The Netherlands. Results of the monitoring programme* (ECN-C-01-021) [online]. Petten, the Netherlands: ECN. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.ecn.nl/docs/library/report/2001/c01021.pdf</u>

Brechler, J. and Fuka, V. (2014). Impact of noise barriers on air-pollution dispersion. *Natural Science*, **6**, 377-386.

Brovelli, C. and Crispino, M. (2013). Photocatalytic Suspension for Road Pavements: Investigation on Wearing and Contaminant Effects. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, **25**(4), 548-554.

Chen, J. and Poon, C (2009). Photocatalytic construction and building materials: From fundamentals to applications. *Building and Environment*, **44**(9), 1899–1906.

Churchill, C.J. and Panesar, D.K. (2013). Life-cycle cost analysis of highway noise barriers designed with photocatalytic cement. *Structure and Infrastructure Engineering: Maintenance, Management, Life-Cycle Design and Performance,* **9**(10), 983-998

Carder, D. and Barker, K.J. (2006). *M*27 *trial of highway noise barriers as solar energy generators* (PPR178). Crowthorne, UK: Transport Research Laboratory.

Carder, D.R., Hawker, L. and Parry, A.R. (2007). Motorway noise barriers as solar power generators. *Proceedings of the Institute of Civil Engineers - Engineering Sustainability* **160** (1), 17–25.

Carsonite Composites (2010) *AcoustaShield by Carsonite* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Newbury, South Carolina, USA: Carsonite Composites. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://carsonite.com/pdf/AcoustaShield-reflective.pdf</u>

CEN (2003). CEN/TS 1793-4:2003. Road traffic noise reducing devices - Test method for determining the acoustic performance - Part 4: Intrinsic characteristics - In situ values of sound diffraction. Brussels, Belgium: Comité Européen de Normalisation.

CEN (2010a). *EN 1317-1:2010. Road restraint systems – Part 1: Terminology and general criteria for test methods.* Brussels, Belgium: Comité Européen de Normalisation.

CEN (2010b). EN 1317-2:2010. Road restraint systems – Part 2: Performance classes, impact test acceptance criteria and test methods for safety barriers including vehicle parapets. Brussels, Belgium: Comité Européen de Normalisation.

CEN (2011a). EN 1794-1:2011. Road traffic noise reducing devices – Non-acoustic performance - Part 1: Mechanical performance and stability requirements. Brussels, Belgium: Comité Européen de Normalisation.



CEN (2011b). EN 1794-2:2011. Road traffic noise reducing devices – Non-acoustic performance - Part 2: General safety and environmental requirements. Brussels, Belgium: Comité Européen de Normalisation.

CEN (2014). *prEN 1794-3:2014. Road traffic noise reducing devices – Non-acoustic performance - Part 3: Reaction to fire. Burning behaviour of noise reducing devices and classification.* Brussels, Belgium: Comité Européen de Normalisation.

Chusid, M. (2010). Photocatalysts keep concrete clean and depollute the air we breathe [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. *Precast Solutions Magazine*. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://precast.org/2010/05/words-you-should-know-depollution-photocatalysis</u>

Colas (undated #1). *Deep recycling* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.colas.co.uk/services/surface-treatments/deep-recycling</u>

Colas (undated #2). Repave [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.colas.co.uk/services/surface-treatments/repave</u>

Colas (undated #3). Retread [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.colas.co.uk/services/surface-treatments/retread</u>

Corfield, L. (2012) *Photovoltaic noise barriers* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Newbury, United Kingdom: TV Energy. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.tvenergy.org/content/files/publications/photovoltaic-noise-barriers-</u> <u>1334753493.pdf</u>

Crispino, M. and Lambrugo, S. (2007). An experimental characterization of a photocatalytic mortar for road bituminous pavements. *International RILEM symposium on Photocatalysis, Environment and Construction Materials*, 8-9 October 2007, Florence, Italy, pp. 211-218.

de Neef, D. (2014). PhD fellow, University of Copenhagen, Denmark, Private communications, dd.18/12/2013, 14&27/10/2014.

Dylla, H., Asadi, S., Hassan, M. and Mohammad, L. N. (2013). Evaluating photocatalytic asphalt pavement effectiveness in real-world environments through developing models: a statistical and kinetic study. *Road Materials and Pavement Design* 14(2).

Dylla, H., Hassan, M. M., Mohammad L., Rupnow T., and Wright, E. Evaluation of the Environmental Effectiveness of Titanium Dioxide Photocatalyst coating for concrete pavements. Journal of the Transportation Research Record, Vol. 2164, 2010, pp. 46-51.

ERF (2013). *European road statistics 2012* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Brussels, Belgium: European Union Road Federation. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.erf.be/images/Statistics/ER\_Statistics\_Final\_2012.pdf</u>

Eugster, W.J. (2007). Road and bridge heating using geothermal energy. Overview and examples [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. *Proceedings of the European Geothermal Congress 2007, Unterhaching, Germany.* Available from World Wide Web: <u>https://pangea.stanford.edu/ERE/pdf/IGAstandard/EGC/2007/147.pdf</u>



Eugster, W. J. and Schatzmann, J. (2002). Harnessing solar energy for winter road clearing on heavily loaded expressways. *Proceedings of XIth International Winter Road Congress* 2002, Sapporo, Japan.

Eurovia Vinci (2013). *Noise Barriers. Noxer. Noise abatement and air quality* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Paris, France: Eurovia Vinci. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.eurovia.com/media/128307/noxermur a4 gb bd.pdf</u> [In section 2.1.3 of this report on NOx reducing barriers]

FlandersDrive (undated). *Inductive charging* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>www.flandersdrive.be/en/projects/inductive-charging</u>

Fukuhara, T., Watanabe, H., Yokoyama, T. Ito, T. and Kawai, G (2002). Pavement Snow Melting Systems Using Ground Heat at "Michi-no-Eki, Hatchi-kita", *Proceedings of XIth International Winter Road Congress 2002*, Sapporo, Japan.

Gallus, M., Akylas, V., Barmpas, F., Beeldens, A., Boonen, E., Boréave, A., Bottalico, L., Cazaunau, M., Chen, H. and Daële, V (2015). Photocatalytic de-pollution in the Leopold II tunnel in Brussels: NOx abatement results. *Building and Environment* **84**, 125-133.

Garcia, A., Schlangen, E., van de Ven, M. and van Vliet D. (2011). Crack repair of asphalt concrete with induction energy [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. *HERON* **56**(1). Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://heronjournal.nl/56-12/3.pdf</u>

Gignoux, L., Christory, J.P. and Petit, J.F. (2010). Concrete roadways and air quality— Assessment of trials in Vanves in the heart of the Paris region. *Proceedings of the 12th International Symposium on Concrete Roads*, Sevilla, Spain, 13–15 October 2010.

Guerrini, G. and Peccati, E. (2007). Photocatalytic cementitous roads for depollution. *International RILEM symposium on Photocatalysis, Environment and Construction Materials*, 8-9 October 2007, Florence, Italy, pp. 179-186.

Hallenga R., Rabius, N, Bubberman R., van Erp, J., and van den Pangaard, W. (2006). *Modulaire Geluidsschermen: Handleiding configuratie en implementatie. Versie 2* (in Dutch) (DWW-2006-040) [online] [Accessed March 2015]. Delft, the Netherlands: Rijkswaterstaat Dienst Weg- en Waterbouwkunde. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://publicaties.minienm.nl/download-bijlage/16860/341231.pdf</u>

Highways Magazine (2014). *Environmental barriers trialled on M62* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. July 24 2014. Sevenoaks: Alad Limited. Available on World Wide Web: <u>http://highwaysmagazine.co.uk/environmental-barriers-trialled-on-m62/</u>

Hooghwerff J, Tollenaar C and van der Heijden R (2009). Effect of (optimized) noise barriers on air quality: Test site IPL A28 [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Presentation at Air Quality Innovation Programme/IPL (Innovatieprogramma Luchtkwaliteit) Conference – Improving Air Quality Along Motorways, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, November 2009 Available from World Wide Web:

http://www.rijkswaterstaat.nl/images/Minutes%20of%20the%20conference\_tcm174-279993.pdf



Huber, F. Brosch, K., Bremer, S., Sander, H., Derneden, M. and Stachowitz, J. (2013). *Lärmschutzanlagen - best practice in Europoe - (Pilotstudie)*. Forschung Strassenbau und Strassenverkehrstechnik, Helft 1086. Bonn, Germany: Bundesministerium für Verkehr, Bau und Stadtentwicklung.

Ifang, S. (2012). Noise Barrier for Degradation of Nitrogen Oxides and Particulate Matter [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Presentation at *PhotoPAQ Symposium*, Corsica, May 2012. Available from World Wide Web:

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uac t=8&ved=0CCAQFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fphotopaq.ircelyon.univlyon1.fr%2Fcontent%2Fdownload%2F548%2F3003%2Ffile%2FBUW%2520lfang.pdf&ei=vtL 0U56ZHtDG7AaolYFg&usg=AFQjCNF7ccFLNmQzwwlaogdafqCJQi-hhQ

Ishida, Y. (2002). Road heating using natural energy. *Proceedings of the 11<sup>th</sup> International Winter Road Congress*, Sapporo, Japan.

Jansma, S. and Hendriks, R. (2012). *Trillingen: Bruisende bron van energie. Eindrapportage pilotproject N34.* Deventer, the Netherlands: Tauw bv.

Kaptein, D., de Beer, F.G., van 't Hof, J., Telman, J., Noordhoek, I., Safari, B., Kohler, C.J.A.M., van Riet, C., Mank, J.A.M., Padmos, C.J., van Vliet W.J. and van Ooststroom, L.E.M. (2004). *Praktijkproef Schermtoppen. Eindrapport IPG 4.2.2* (in Dutch). (DWW-2004-022). Delft, the Netherlands: Rijkswaterstatt Dienst Verkeer en Scheepvaart.

Kawakami, A. (2008). Development of a cool pavement for mitigating the urban heat island effect in Japan [online]. [Accessed march 2015], *Proceedings of ISAP 2008*. Available from World Wide Web: <u>https://www.pwri.go.jp/eng/activity/pdf/reports/kawakami.080816.pdf</u>

Kragh, J., Nielsen, E., Olesen, E., Goubert, L., Vansteenkiste, S., De Visscher, J. Sandberg, U. and Karlsson, R. (2011). *OPTHINAL – Optimization of thin asphalt layers: Final report* [online]. [Accessed November 2014]. Hedehusene, Denmark: Danish Road Directorate. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.brrc.be/pdf/15/doc/OPTHINAL\_FinalReport.pdf</u>

Krezel, Z.A and McManus, K. (2010). Environmentally Friendly Sound Absorbing Noise Barrier Made from Concrete Waste – Further developments. *International Journal of Pavement Research and Technology* **3**(4), 223-227.

Kragh, J. and Skov R.S.H. (2014). In-situ measurements of traffic noise attenuation by barriers with special tops. *Proceedings of Forum Acusticum 2014*, Krakow, Poland.

Lakušić, S., Bjegović, D., Haladin, I., Baričević, A. and Serdar, M. (2011). RUCONBAR – Innovative noise protection solution made of recycled tyres [Online]. [Accessed March 2015]. *Proceedings of the 20th International Scientific Conference TRANSPORT 2011*, Sofia, Bulgaria. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.ruconbar.com/rcnb/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2013/02/RUCONBAR Transport 2011 Sofia.pdf</u>

Milford, I., Gspan, K., Aasebø, S.J. and Strömmer, K. (2013). *Value for money in road traffic noise abatement* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Marne la Vallée, France: Conférence Européenne des Directeurs des Routes (CEDR). Available from World Wide Web:



http://www.fomento.gob.es/NR/rdonlyres/65C31277-4D32-457E-9B02-107645CF0586/120684/3CEDRIMValueforMoney.pdf

Morgan, P. (2004). *Review of Japanese noise barrier research* (DWW-2004-081). Delft, the Netherlands: Rijkswaterstatt Dienst Verkeer en Scheepvaart.

Morgan, P.A. (2008). *IPG Research Report - Innovative mitigation measures for road traffic noise* (DVS-2008-18). Delft, the Netherlands: Rijkswaterstaat Dienst Verkeer en Scheepvaart

Nguyen, M.-L., Hornych, P., Kerzrého, J.-P. and Perez, S. (2014). Full scale test on prefabricated slabs for electrical supply by induction of urban transport systems. *Proceedings of TRA 2014*, Paris, France.

Nilsson, M., Bengtsson, J. and Klaeboe, R. (editors) (2014). *Environmental Methods for Transport Noise Reduction*. CRC Press.

Ohama, Y., and van Gemert, D. (editors) (2011). *Application of titanium dioxide photocatalysis to construction materials*. State-of-the-art report of the RILEM technical committee 194-TDP, vol. XII. Springer; 2011. p. 48.

Ontario Ministry of Transportation (2011). Smog: A nice, light snack? Photocatalytic concrete field trials on Ontario's freeways [online] [Accessed March 2015]. In *RoadTalk - Ontario's Transportation Technology Transfer Digest* 17(3). Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.mto.gov.on.ca/english/transtek/roadtalk/rt17-3/RT17-3.pdf</u>

Perik, H. (2013a) *Practical EV integration cases for static and dynamic wireless power transfer* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <a href="https://www.flandersdrive.be/sites/default/files/publicaties/Inductive%20Charging%20-%20Public%20Results.pdf">www.flandersdrive.be/sites/default/files/publicaties/Inductive%20Charging%20-%20Public%20Results.pdf</a>

Perik, H. (2013b). *CED Project Results. Feasibility study on inductive wireless vehicle charging.* (FlandersDrive Report). Flanders, Belgium: FlandersDrive.

pvresources.com (2013). *Photovoltaic noise barriers*. [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.pvresources.com/PVSystems/NoiseBarriers.aspx</u>

van Ratingen, S. W. (2012). *Bijlage: TNO bijdrage experiment CleanScreen* + *FDRS* (TNO-060-UT-2012-00424) [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Utrecht, the Netherlands: TNO. Available from World Wide Web: <u>http://www.cleanscreen.nl/images/stories/artikelen/UT-00424-def.pdf</u>

van Renterghem T. and Botteldooren, D. (2002). Effect of a row of trees behind noise barriers in wind. ACTA ACUSTICA United with ACUSTICA, **88**, 869 – 878.

de Roo, F. van der Knapp, F. G. P., van't Hof, J., Salomons, E. Mank, J. A. M., Padmos, C. J., van Ettinger J.J. and van Oostrstroom, L. E. M. (2004). *Diffractietesten en Simulaties Schermtoppen. Eindrapport IPG 4.2.1* (in Dutch). (DWW-2004-21). Delft, the Netherlands: Rijkswaterstatt Dienst Verkeer en Scheepvaart.



RUCONBAR (2014). Absorptive concrete noise protection barriers – RUCONBAR [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: http://www.ruconbar.com/rcnb/wpcontent/uploads/2014/06/RUCONBAR brochure A4 EN web.pdf

de Schepper E., van Passel, S., Manca, J. and Thewys, T. (2012). Combining photovoltaics and sound barriers - A feasibility study. Renewable energy 46.

van't Selfde, A. and Zoeter, F. (2012). Effecten van CleanScreen en FDRS. Ondertitel Deposities en fijnstofconcentraties bij de proef A10 Oost (in Dutch) (Report 6913) [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: http://www.cleanscreen.nl/images/stories/artikelen/Rapport\_CleanScreen\_opstelling\_A10\_31 082012.pdf

Sound Protection Solutions (2013). Soniwall noise barrier system [online]. [Accessed march 2015]. New York, USA: Sound Protection Solutions. Available from World Wide Web:http://soundprotectionsolutions.com/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/SPS BrochureFINAL cmyk.pdf

Studio Roosegaarde and Heijmans Infrastructure (2014). Smart highway [online]. [Accessed March 2015] Available from World Wide Web: www.studioroosegaarde.net/project/smarthighway/

Stuliková L and Snajdr K (2014). Development of a new gabion structure with an absorptive face. Proceedings of Inter-Noise 2013, Innsbruck, Austria.

Tanaka, M., Moriyama, K. and Hayashi T (2002). Snow-melting using direct geothermal energy. Proceedings of the 11<sup>th</sup> International Winter Road Congress, Sapporo, Japan.

Taiz L., Zeiger E. (2010). Plant Physiology. Sinauer Associates Inc.

Tischmak, D. and Marcato, W. (2011). Investigation of best options for using scrap tyres in highway noise barriers (CDOT-2011-8) [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Denver, Colorado, USA: Colorado Department of Transportation. Available from World Wide Web: https://www.codot.gov/programs/research/pdfs/2011/scraptirewalls.pdf/

Traffic TechnologyToday.com (2014). Solar Roadways seek funding [online]. [Accessed March 2015] Available from World Wide Web: http://traffictechnologytoday.com/news.php?NewsID=58989

(also

http://ukipmemail.com/interface/external view email.php?B89771949478224536411946503 015)

TU Delft (undated). Self-healing asphalt [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Delft University of Technology Blog. Available from World Wide Web: http://selfhealingasphalt.blogspot.co.uk/

Tubosider (undated). Combined single-sided safety and noise vehicle parapet - Containment level H4b [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: http://tubosider.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/H4bpl 2S-SI-TU-bpl-38 technical sheet 5.pdf



Voogt, M.H. (2013). Onderzoek naar de werking van luchtzuiverende cassettes in de praktijk op geluidschermen langs de A59 (in Dutch) (TNO 2013 R10337). Utrecht, the Netherlands: TNO.

Watts, G.R. (1996). Acoustic performance of a multiple-edge noise barrier profile at motorway sites. *Applied Acoustics* **47**, 47-66.

Watts, G.R. and Morgan, P.A. (1996). Acoustic performance of an interference type noise barrier. *Applied Acoustics* **49**(1), 1-16.

WinnerWay (undated). *WinnerWay – Green Infrastructural Energy* [online]. [Accessed March 2015]. Available from World Wide Web: <u>www.winnerway.nl</u>

